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2020 DELIVERY

Clúid has grown to 
become the largest 
approved housing 
body (AHB) in Ireland.

Location Total
Carlow 205

Cavan 69

Clare 73

Cork 1,205

Donegal 166

Dublin 2,380

Galway 530

Kerry 400

Kildare 322

Kilkenny 83

Laois 323

Leitrim 11

Limerick 239

Longford 142

Louth 472

Mayo 153

Meath 303

Monaghan 21

Offaly 82

Roscommon 39

Sligo 141

Tipperary 275

Waterford 204

Westmeath 26

Wexford 207

Wicklow 43

Clúid Properties  
under Management

4,698
Houses

3,361 
Apartments  

and Duplexes

55
Rooms in  

Group Homes

Cover image: Sinead Fay receiving 
the keys to her refurbished 
apartment after the €23m 
regeneration of the St. Mary’s 
Mansions flat complex in Dublin

Total Homes     8,114
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Shauna Kane  
St. Mary’s Mansions, 
Dublin 1
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Resident involvement in the 
planning and design of St. Mary’s 
Mansions redevelopment was key 
to the success of the project. This 
is not simply the regeneration of 
a building. It is the revitalisation 
of a community.

SECTION ONE

Resilience and 
Achievement
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CHAIRPERSON’S
STATEMENT

During the past year we faced many 
obstacles in our work to achieve our 
vision of a society where everyone 
has a great place to live. None was 
more challenging than maintaining 
close bonds between staff and 
residents, while complying with the 
appropriate pandemic restrictions. 
The health and wellbeing of Clúid’s 
21,000+ residents and 240+ staff 
has remained a major focus of 
the executive and operations 
teams throughout the year, while 
maintaining service standards and 
augmenting stock.

A key task was to ensure that our 
people remained connected, while 
staying safely apart. The board and 
management team placed particular 
emphasis on connectivity, establishing 
a Covid response team to coordinate 
efforts, rolling out various wellbeing 
initiatives and providing a dedicated 
communications strategy to keep staff 
and residents updated and informed. 
2020 was a year that tested each 

of us. Our staff had to overcome 
many hurdles throughout the year to 
continue to provide the excellent level 
of service that residents and suppliers 
have come to expect from Clúid. 
However, despite national restrictions 
and construction site closures, 
2020 was also a successful year for 
Clúid. The organisation handed over 
the keys to 675* new high-quality 
homes and supported over 2,800 
people in housing need, a significant 
achievement against a backdrop of 
restricted construction activity.

These strong results are a testament 
to the resilience of the organisation, 
the dedication of our staff, and the 
excellent level of collaboration that 
exists between Clúid and its business 
partnerships, including those in 
Local Authorities, the Department 
of Housing, Local Government and 
Heritage, the Housing Finance 
Agency (HFA), the European 
Investment Bank (EIB), the Housing 
Agency, other Approved Housing 

As Chair of the Board of Clúid Housing, and 
on behalf of all board members, I would like 
to welcome you to the 2020 Annual Report. 
Against the backdrop of a global pandemic, 
Clúid continues to deliver on its mission to 
provide good quality housing and services 
that enable people to build a home and 
thriving community. 675

In 2020 Clúid  
handed over the  
keys to 675* new  

high-quality homes

*  2020 saw a year-on-year net increase of 645 units, accounting for several reclassified properties. An extra 675 new units were brought into 
management between January and December 2020, with an additional 7 units acquired and undergoing minor repairs.

21,000+
Clúid supported over  

21,000 residents  
across Ireland in 2020
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Bodies (AHBs), developers, and  
local communities.

2020 is the final year of voluntary 
regulation in the AHB sector, as 
we prepare to operate under a 
legislative basis in 2021. Clúid 
has long advocated the move to 
statutory regulation which will begin 
in earnest during the coming year. 
We welcome the change and Clúid 
will play an active role in support of 
the regulation. Clúid’s sixth housing 
regulator assessment confirmed 
that we had excellent levels of 
compliance with the regulator’s code.

The board’s focus on continuous 
improvement in 2020 saw the 
completion of independent 
external reviews and the approval 
of implementation plans for Clúid 
Works, New Business, Finance, and 
Housing Services. The board is 
responsible for guiding the delivery 
of the corporate strategy, and 
ensuring effective governance. 
We have established a number of 
financial and service performance 
measures to provide enhanced 
reporting and delivery. 

In late 2020, Clúid agreed a new 
€54m investment with Legal & 
General Investment Management 
(LGIM). Access to this new long-term 
finance will support the construction 
of 200 new social homes. This 

diversification of our funding model 
allows Clúid to access long-term 
pension capital finance for the Irish 
social housing sector. This innovative 
financing model will encourage 
the development of future private 
financing agreements in the AHB 
sector. This funding is a vote of 
confidence for Clúid, the Irish  
social housing sector and the  
Irish economy.

I would like to take this opportunity 
to thank our present board members, 
and Aidan O’Hogan who has recently 
stepped down after over three years 
on the board, for their commitment 
to Clúid’s vision. Members guide 
the organisation through their 
active participation at board and 
committee meetings and their 
promotion of the work of Clúid in the 
wider housing environment. Their 
valued contribution will enable our 
employees, and all our partners, to 
continue to deliver on Clúid’s mission. 

We look forward to building further 
on these strong foundations and 
continuing to deliver quality homes 
and excellence in service in 2021 and 
the years beyond.

 
Mark Shakespeare 
Chairperson

2020 is the final 
year of voluntary
regulation in the 
AHB sector, as
we prepare to 
operate under a
legislative basis 
in 2021.

Despite national restrictions
and construction site closures,
Clúid handed over the keys to 
675* homes throughout 2020
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
STATEMENT

A Chara, 

Clúid’s vision is a society where 
everyone has a great place to live. 
Never was this more important than 
in 2020. When we review the year, we 
can see that it began like any other 
year. People got on with their daily 
lives, spending time with their families, 
working and enjoying some down time 
whenever they had a spare moment. 
How quickly that all changed one Friday 
evening in March, when the Taoiseach 
announced sweeping restrictions to stop 
the spread of Covid-19. We could no 
longer visit the homes of friends, go to 
work in the office, or travel more than 
2km from home.

2020 has been a unique year in the 
lives of both Clúid residents and staff. 
It has tested us, made us redefine 
how we think of our communities, 
reconnect with our neighbours, and 
realise the importance of a good 
quality home. In Clúid, we reached 
out to the more vulnerable residents 
and those who were most at risk. We 
checked that our elderly residents 
were safe, assisted them while they 
cocooned and helped them to combat 
isolation and loneliness.

A core objective of Clúid’s response to 
the Covid-19 pandemic was to ensure 
that the organisation continued to 
deliver its services, while prioritising 
the health and safety of all our staff 
and residents. Work life moved online, 
with all staff required to work from 
home, where possible. Clúid’s work 
practices and requirements pre-covid 
meant that the organisation had the 
IT infrastructure and equipment in 
place to facilitate staff to work out of 
the office. This meant that Clúid’s 240+ 
employees had a smooth transition in 
their move from an office to a home 
environment. The wellbeing of staff was 
a core priority and, so, the organisation 
rolled out several wellbeing initiatives, 
including webinars, access to wellbeing 
apps, as well as a series of regular 
communications on mental and 
physical health, wellbeing and nutrition.

Throughout all the disruption and 
upheaval in the year, Clúid supported 
over 2,800 new Clúid residents 
and delivered 675 new homes into 
management for people in housing 
need across Ireland. Despite the 
closure of construction sites, Clúid 
delivered high-profile schemes, such 
as Sruthán na Sailí, Killarney in Kerry, 

A core objective of Clúid’s response to the 
Covid-19 pandemic was to ensure that the 
organisation continued to deliver its services, 
while prioritising the health and safety of all 
our staff and residents.

 2,800+
Clúid supported over  
2,800 new residents  

across Ireland in 2020



one of the largest sustainable social 
housing schemes in the country, and 
St. Mary’s Mansions, a €23m flagship 
regeneration project in Dublin’s North 
East Inner city.

Early in the year, Clúid hosted some of 
Ireland’s most influential leaders in the 
housing sector at the Social Housing 
is Big Business breakfast briefing. The 
event explored “How social housing 
can work for you” and included an 
insightful panel discussion on topics 
including the planning process, the 
construction labour market, height 
restrictions, delivery and tenure 
mix. The briefing underscored our 
belief that a vibrant social housing 
sector is an essential component of a 
functioning housing economy.

In February, we were delighted to have 
broadcaster and age-friendly housing 
advocate, Brendan Courtney launch 
Clann, our new dedicated age-friendly 
housing service. Soon after the launch, 
Clann received an award nomination 
at the annual all-island Chartered 
Institute of Housing (CIH) awards. The 
team was shortlisted in recognition of 
their efforts to promote age equality in 
housing. Clann has big plans to deliver 
800+ new homes in towns and cities 
across Ireland before the end of 2022.

These achievements would not have 
been possible without the excellent 
level of collaboration and the 
support of our partners, including 
local authorities, developers, funders, 
government departments and state 
agencies, making Clúid one of the 
leading approved housing bodies 
(AHBs) in Ireland.

In response to a call for proposals 
from the Department of Housing, 
Local Government and Heritage, 
Clúid submitted three applications 
to the new cost rental housing pilot 
programme. Cost rental is a new type 
of housing tenure in Ireland. Cost 
rental housing supports the many 
households who find themselves 
struggling to find affordable secure 
housing in the private rental sector. 
Cost rental is the fulfilment of a long-
term strategic objective to provide the 
same security, quality, and affordability 
to middle income households as 
to people in social housing. The 
emergence of the cost rental model 
could result in a major change to the 
housing sector. It is our wish that this 

cost rental pilot model will, over time, 
allow for the development of a new 
type of housing tenure to address this 
much neglected need.

2020 has seen Clúid advancing two 
exciting initiatives. Our Greening 
Strategy will guide our sustainability 
objectives into the future. It will help 
us to contribute to national carbon 
reduction and biodiversity goals. 
Our Digital Strategy will help both 
Clúid staff and residents to secure 
the benefits of new technology. Such 
advances will enhance our services and 
enable us to better serve our residents.     

We are expanding services for our 
residents by working collaboratively 
with them, through newly established 
resident engagement structures. This 
means that, in time, the influence 
of residents will be more evident 
in the services we deliver. We are 
also supporting vulnerable residents 
through tenancy sustainment measures, 
helping them to maintain their 
accommodation through times of 
personal challenge.   

Thanks to all our Clúid and Clann 
employees for their resilience over the 
past 12 months. Their resourcefulness 
has meant that we have not only 
maintained business as usual, but 
continued to improve our services. 
Finally, the executive is indebted to 
our board members. Their expertise 
and experience guide the organisation  
to realise its social mission. Looking 
to the future, we are committed to 
continuing to deliver high-quality 
housing and management services  
that enable people to build homes  
and thriving communities.

 
Brian O’Gorman 
Chief Executive

We are expanding 
services for our 
residents by working 
collaboratively 
with them, through 
newly established 
resident engagement 
structures.

800+
Clann has ambitious  

plans to deliver  
800+ new  

age-friendly homes
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Clúid Housing is an award 
winning, not-for-profit 
charity providing affordable, 
high-quality homes to  
people in housing need  
across Ireland.

OUR VISION / MISSION / VALUES

Radharc an tSáile, Kinsale 
– a scheme of 40 new 
high-quality affordable 
homes for people in 
housing need in Cork
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Our Vision 
Clúid’s vision is a society where 
everyone has a great place to live.

Our Mission 
Clúid aims to achieve its vision 
by providing quality housing and 
services, to enable people to create 
homes and thriving communities.

Our Values
Leadership 
Clúid is passionate about results 
that matter and is committed to 
constantly challenging the way 
we do things, so that we can be 
the best at what we do. We aim 
to set the benchmark for housing 
quality and customer service. We 
accept only the highest standards 
of conduct and put service before 
self-interest. 

Collaboration 
Clúid is approachable and 
responsive. We aim to get the best, 
mutually beneficial results from all 
our working relationships. We keep 
our promises. 

Responsibility 
Clúid takes personal and collective 
responsibility for ensuring that 
the needs of our customers are 
consistently met in a cost effective 
and sustainable manner. 

Caring 
Clúid believes that when we care 
for each other, interacting with 
integrity and respect, we will 
ultimately achieve the best possible 
outcome in any given situation.



SUSTAINABILITY

 

Clúid’s sustainable vision for the future 
is to have every Clúid resident living 
in a low carbon, affordable home, 
promoting positive wellbeing and 
sustainable living.
Susan Vickers, Energy and Environmental Manager

Rosemary Kunene, a 
resident of Clúid in 
Laois, tends to the 
community garden
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Clúid recognises that, as an organisation, we can make a significant contribution towards supporting 
Ireland’s climate action goals. Sustainability is important to us and we have been working on 
improving our operational environmental impact over the last number of years. Susan Vickers, our 
Energy and Environmental Manager, has been working on developing Clúid’s Greening Strategy and 
has identified three main pillars: 

In addition to Clúid’s new Greening 
Strategy, Susan has created an 
accompanying three-year action  
plan which sets out Clúid’s goals 
for 2030. Both the strategy and the 
action plan have been developed as 
a direct response to Ireland’s Climate 
Action Plan.

Build Green 
The Build Green pillar is centred 
around carbon – how carbon is 
measured, how to emit less carbon 
and how to offset carbon. Clúid is 
proud to have delivered some of the 
country’s leading energy efficient 
social housing schemes. 

In 2020, Clúid launched Sruthán na 
Sailí, Derreen in Kerry. This is one of 
Ireland’s largest sustainable social 
housing schemes and it includes 
homes with a BER rating of A1.  

Clúid’s flagship scheme in 2020 was 
the €23 million regeneration of St. 
Mary’s Mansions in Dublin’s North 
East Inner City, which achieved a  
BER rating of A3.

Live Green 
The Live Green pillar focuses on the 
work of residents and communities and 
helps them to fulfil their own climate 
action objectives. In February 2020, 
Clúid set up the National Residents’ 
Advisory Group (NRAG). NRAG has, 
in turn, set up a sustainability sub-
group, focusing on the residents’ own 
objectives and areas of interest. Clúid 
is working closely with this group 
on a variety of ideas. These include 
biodiversity projects, education 
workshops and support to establish 
wider links with local community groups 
and their public participation networks.

Be Green 
The Be Green pillar has a goal of net 
zero operations emissions by 2030. To 
achieve this, Clúid is looking across 
the business at ways to improve 
environmental performance. Work 
is underway on a number of plans 
throughout the organisation to support 
this goal. We are spearheading 
initiatives such as transport 
optimisation for our repairs team 
‘Clúid Works’; greener procurement 
guidelines and practices; an electric 
vehicle policy and the elimination 
of herbicides and pesticides in our 
grounds’ maintenance contracts. 

Build 
Green

Live 
Green

Be
Green

All new Clúid homes to be net 
zero operational carbon and 
built with 40% less embodied 
carbon, while the retrofitting 
of existing homes will adhere 
to a minimum BER rating of B2

100% of residents 
of Clúid to be 
empowered to live 
more sustainable lives

Clúid’s own 
operations to be 
net zero emissions

Clúid is the only housing association 
in Ireland that has committed 
to such an ambitious Greening 
Strategy and we are proud to lead  
the sector in this area.
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COST RENTAL 

In December 2020, Minister Darragh O’Brien TD 
announced a call for proposals for a new Department of 
Housing, Local Government and Heritage Cost Rental 
Equity Loan (CREL) scheme. 

Clúid welcomed the government announcement on this 
new scheme. 

“ Clúid has been calling for the 
introduction of a cost rental model 
to support vulnerable families and 
individuals, who don’t meet the 
thresholds for social housing, but 
are facing affordability challenges 
in the private housing market, for 
many years.

 The CREL scheme is an exciting 
step in the right direction in 
this regard. We look forward to 
participating in the scheme and 
working with the Department of 
Housing, Local Government and 
Heritage, the Housing Finance 
Agency, local authorities and the 
Housing Agency to deliver these 
schemes in 2021.”

 Fiona Dunkin, Clúid Housing Policy Adviser 
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Fiona Cormican, New Business Director, 
Brian O’Gorman, CEO, and Darragh O’Brien 
TD Minister for Housing, Local Government 
and Heritage at the launch of Dún Sí in 
Portmarnock, Dublin
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Dorothy joined the 
National Residents 
Advisory Group to 
build an inclusive, 
sustainable, and 
diverse community

I joined NRAG to give 
something back, so 
together we could 
establish foundations 
for diverse, inclusive 
communities.
We learn from each 
other to create spaces 
that reflect who 
we are and how we 
live as friends and 
neighbours, enriching 
and strengthening our 
environment for  
all residents.
Dorothy Seagrave 
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In February 2020, Clúid’s Housing 
Services team supported 
residents from across Ireland 
to form the National Residents 
Advisory Group (NRAG). 

SECTION TWO

Building 
Sustainable 
Communities 
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Social Housing  
is Big Business

WORKING IN 
PARTNERSHIP

In February 2020, Clúid hosted some 
of the country’s leading industry players 
at the Social Housing is Big Business 
(SHIBB) breakfast briefing in the 
National Convention Centre. 

Some of Ireland’s leading professionals 
attended this event, which tackled the 
big issue of how the social housing 
sector can work to address housing 
need and improve housing delivery.

Fiona Cormican, Clúid Director of New 
Business, Eibhlin O’Connor, Clúid Head 
of Delivery, Stephen Garvey, Glenveagh 
Properties CEO, Dara Deering, Home 
Building Finance Ireland (HBFI) CEO 
and Michael McElligott Tetrarch Capital 
participated in an insightful panel 
discussion on topics including: finance, 
the planning process, the construction 
labour market, height restrictions, 
housing delivery and tenure mix.

 100+ 
Over 100 of Ireland’s  

leading industry 
professionals attended the 
SHIBB breakfast briefing



A
N

N
U

A
L 

RE
PO

RT
 2

02
0

17 

Clúid’s Social Housing is Big Business
(SHIBB) breakfast briefing tackled the 
big issue of how the social housing 
sector can work to address housing 
need and improve housing delivery.

Stephen Garvey, Glenveagh
Properties CEO, Eibhlin O’Connor, 
Clúid Head of Delivery, Dara 
Deering, Home Building Finance 
Ireland (HBFI) CEO and Michael 
McElligott, Tetrarch Capital
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Kerry

91

 1-10

 11-20 

 21-30

 31-50

 51-220

This achievement was made possible by partnering with the Department of Housing, 
Local Government and Heritage, local authorities, developers, the Housing Finance 
Agency, financial institutions and other third parties.

2020 DELIVERY

Clare 

11

Waterford 

1Cork

161

Limerick 

27

Kerry

115

Laois 

10
Wicklow 

13

Louth 

    10

Dublin

219
Galway  

30
Offaly  

6
Kildare 

21

Meath

4

Cavan

12

Westmeath

14

Wexford

21

  
New Homes by County

In 2020, Clúid provided 
675 new homes and 
supported over 2,800  
new residents who were  
in housing need
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We handed over 
the keys to 675 new 
homes in 2020

 268
Developer 
Turnkey

 108
Second-hand  
Acquisitions

 5
Mortgage
-to-Rent

 155
Clúid Design  
and Build

 93
Developer 
Design and Build

 46
Other

675

of the homes Clúid 
delivered in 2020  
were new build76%
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HIGHLIGHTS

Scott from Park 
Avenue, South 
Douglas Road 
in CorkC
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The Clúid Housing Services team is at the 
front line of Clúid’s work. The team works 
in partnership with local authorities across 
Ireland, to support people in housing 
need. They provide quality housing and 
management services and enable people to 
build a home and thriving community. 

Clúid aims to create mixed tenure, 
sustainable communities. We firmly 
believe that having your own front 
door – your place to call home – 
creates opportunities for seeking out 
employment and accessing education 
and other services. This means that our 
residents can contribute to and enrich 
their communities.

During Covid restrictions, the Housing 
Services team developed new 
processes and procedures, to ensure 
continuity of service for residents.  

Working in close collaboration with 
many partners and using online 
platforms instead of face-to-face 
meetings, the team established new 
parameters in which to operate safely 
and continue to deliver our services.

Throughout the year, the Housing  
Services team focused their efforts 
on key areas of improvement, in line 
with the organisation’s objectives. The 
team achieved significant cost savings 
and service improvement through 
targeted process improvement, 
education and training.

IMPROVING OUR HOUSING SERVICES IN 2020

A reduction in rent 
arrears, saving 

€109,000

A reduction in former 
rent arrears, saving 

€13,000

Rents
The Rents’ Improvement Group focused on:

>  Income Management Services 
 - staff training on rent policy and procedures
>  Arrears’ Management Services 
 - Reducing our rent arrears to a record low
>  Improved communication with residents,  

using leaflets and the website. 

Rents in 2020 at a glance

Voids and Allocations
The Voids’ Improvement Group focused on:

>  Policy and procedure updates on the voids  
and allocations service 

>  New voids and lettings protocols to ensure  
continuity of service throughout Covid 

>  Staff training and participation on  
collaboration and communication

>  A satisfaction rate of 97% in our customer  
surveys on handovers. 

Voids * in 2020 at a glance

Re-lets

11.8 weeks
New lets 

6.6 weeks

End to end time  
for new lets 
6.6 weeks 

Satisfaction levels  
from Customer  
Allocation Surveys
97%

Rent arrears as a %  
of annual income  
reduced to  
2.7%

*Figures relate to general needs voids in 2020.



C
LÚ

ID
 H

O
U

SI
N

G
   

National Residents 
Advisory Group 
(NRAG)

HIGHLIGHTS

Debbie and Ger, 
members of NRAG from 
Sleaty Park View, Carlow

22 
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Sustainability and biodiversity are important to me because I believe 
that if I don’t give some thought to my everyday activities and 
lifestyle, particularly more sustainable practices, then our planet will 
be a far more difficult place to live for my three adult children, four 
grandchildren and my greater community long after I’m gone.

I intend to be a part of the forthcoming projects we have planned 
for our communal areas in our relatively new community, such as 
wildflower gardens, composting, water butts, encouraging wildlife 
into our estate and vegetable gardens. I hope that we can work 
on many other projects going forward and that our efforts can be 
an example, not just to my children and grandchildren, but to the 
residents of our scheme and the wider community.
Ger, Sleaty Park View, Carlow

Early in 2020, Clúid collaborated with 
residents on the formation of the 
National Residents Advisory Group 
(NRAG). The group was established 
in February and is made up of people 
from across the Clúid resident body. 
The guiding principle of NRAG is that 
of partnership, with the objective of 
incorporating the residents’ voice  
and perspectives into all areas of  
the organisation.

After an initial meeting in February 
- and a move online through the 
power of video conferencing, due to 
Covid19 restrictions - Clúid began 
collaborating with residents, through 
this group, beginning to shape policy 
and processes, with their input and 
recommendations. Clúid is proud of 
this innovative work.

During 2020, Clúid’s Resident
Engagement Co-ordinator helped to 
facilitate the formation of the NRAG, 
developing a shared purpose and 
structure for the group. An external 
facilitator, the Community Action 
Network led structured workshop 
sessions. These sessions allowed the 
group and Clúid to form a deeper 
understanding of service areas and 
issues of importance to them.

People from across Clúid’s community 
of residents throughout Ireland are 
working together, and in partnership 
with Clúid, to improve our services. 
The group is increasingly motivated 
by wider societal issues in the areas of 
diversity and sustainability and wants 
to support Clúid in having a strong 
voice for change.

Over the initial NRAG meetings,
participants examined how to develop 
the structure of the group, electing 
a chairperson and two co-secretaries. 
Clúid facilitates the group meetings.

Following the elections, NRAG carried
out a survey to look at areas of focus 
for the group, including anti-social 
behaviour (ASB) through an ASB 
sub-group as well as supporting the 
development of Clúid’s Digital Strategy. 
Sustainability was one of the key areas 
identified as a priority and in August, 
NRAG formed a sustainability sub-group. 

The sub-group is currently focusing
on a pilot biodiversity and wider
sustainability plan for the community
in Sleaty Park View, Carlow. This work
includes identifying stakeholders who
can support the sustainability group. 
Stakeholders include Saolta,

Development Perspectives and Trees
for the Land.

The sub-group will continue to develop 
and deliver the peer-to-peer sustainable 
education programme and there will 
be a number of workshops and talks 
arranged for the sustainability sub-
group throughout 2021.

18
The National Residents  

Advisory Group has  
18 members
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Clann:  
Supporting residents  
through Covid

HIGHLIGHTS

Mick Lynch from Ard
Carrig, Carrigtwohill in
Cork. Mick is a member
of the Clann Resident
Advisory Group and winner 
of this year’s CIH Housing 
Hero Award

Clann has worked hard over the last year
to ensure that residents have a voice
and play a central role in the delivery of
services. The establishment of Clann’s
Residents Advisory Group (CRAG) was
an important step in this process.
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Clann is committed to supporting 
residents to live for as long as possible 
in sustainable, high-quality, affordable 
homes in their own community. The 
key to achieving this is to provide a 
safe and secure environment, with 
access to all relevant services and 
community supports.

Clann’s ambition is to expand and 
improve housing options for people 
over the age of 55. This means 
supporting people to remain living 
independently for as long as possible 
and providing more age-friendly homes 
for people who are inappropriately 
housed. Clann is built on the principles 
of autonomy and ageing in place. 
Residents in Clann schemes make their 
own decisions about how they live their 
lives, something they recognise is not 
always the case for individuals who 
reside in nursing home care.

Response to Covid
Soon after Clann launched in February 
of 2020, Ireland’s older residents 
became one of the groups most 
affected by the restrictions imposed, 
due to the global spread of Covid. 
Clann’s scheme managers were very 
aware that isolation and loneliness 
needed to be addressed. Like everyone 
in society, the change in how we live 
our lives and the lack of interaction 
with others has been a struggle. This 
has been compounded for residents 
of Clann schemes, due to government 
guidance around ‘cocooning’ and 
underlying health issues.

Community events and opportunities 
to connect with others is part of the 
Clann service offering. In order to 
maintain these supports and social 
outlets, Clann responded immediately 
and moved online. Clann’s online 
events included music sessions, art and 

cooking demonstrations, virtual tours 
of galleries and ‘Desert Island Discs’. 
Hosting online events allowed residents 
from across the country to get to know 
each other. Friendships were built from 
Cork to Donegal and they have helped 
people to deal with the challenge of 
the last year.

All Clann schemes have an on-site 
scheme manager to support individuals 
in making connections, accessing 
services in the community and ensuring 
their wellbeing. During the restrictions, 
staff were required to work off-site. In 
response to these limitations, scheme 
managers increased their wellness calls 
during the pandemic, making calls daily, 
or as requested by residents.

Clann Residents Advisory 
Group (CRAG)
Clann has worked hard over the last year 
to ensure that our residents have a voice 
and play a central role in the delivery of 
services. The establishment of Clann’s 
Residents Advisory Group (CRAG) was 
an important step in this process.  

CRAG is now shaping the services 
being delivered by Clann. The group 
is currently working on a range of 
projects, for example identifying ways 
in which residents can have a positive 
environmental impact and organising 
social events. Most importantly, CRAG 
brings the voice of the resident to 
the forefront, identifying areas for 
improvement, highlighting what is 
working well and ensuring that Clann, as 
a service, understands what issues are 
most important to the wider Clann family.

Partnerships 
Clann is supported through its many 
partnerships with local community 
groups, such as sports clubs and local 
authority ‘Community Call’ teams. 

This collaborative effort ensures that
residents are able to avail of shopping
deliveries, prescription collection and
other essentials.

Clann participates in several 
local authority Housing Disability 
Committees, influencing and working 
with them to provide more accessible 
age-friendly housing into the future.

Some good examples of this approach 
of linking in with the wider community 
to provide benefits to our schemes and 
residents include:

>  The Galway Rural Development
 Social Inclusion Community 

Activation Programme (SICAP), 
which provides hot Sunday lunches 
for all residents and an Age and 
Opportunity exercise programme

>  National Lottery funding to 
commission a piece of art, 
reflecting the experiences of Oriel 
Lodge residents during lockdown

>  A Cavan County Council Healthy 
Ireland grant for fitness equipment 
(resistance bands)

>  Smart phones for residents to stay 
connected with family and friends 
and join in with Clann’s online 
events – an initiative in partnership 
with ALONE and Vodafone.

Future expansion
Despite the pandemic, Clann 
continued to expand in 2020. The 
development of 20 homes at Earl 
House in Dundalk and 18 homes at 
Baile an Rí in Ballinasloe are typical 
examples of new Clann developments 
across Ireland. Every home provided 
allows another person to live a life 
of their choosing. Over the next two 
years, Clann has ambitious expansion 
plans to bring over 800 new homes 
into management.
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Stepping Stones 
Award 

HIGHLIGHTS

Elizabeth Keogh with her 
parchment after graduating 
from Trinity College Dublin

I had always wanted to study 
history, so off I went and 
applied to Trinity, got in 
much to my amazement and 
in 2019 I graduated with first 
class honours. I have now 
completed a Masters and  
am about to begin a PHD.
Elizabeth Keogh, Stepping Stones  
awardee and Trinity graduate
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Stepping Stones will 
help me to become a 
qualified chef. I have 
been thinking about 
it for a long time. I 
wanted to be a chef  
all my life.
Fausat Salami on  
training to be a chef

I believe this course 
will provide me with 
good employment 
opportunities in an 
industry that will 
always be relevant. 
If I receive financial 
support from 
Stepping Stones,  
I feel I will be able  
to maximise my  
full potential.
Sarah Byrne on pursuing  
a qualification as a 
Special Needs Assistant

Stepping Stones 
has changed my 
life over the past 
two years. Doing 
Levels 1, 2 and 3 in 
Reiki has introduced 
mindfulness into 
my daily life. I have 
become a better 
person because of it. 
Reiki has helped me 
through tough times 
and has changed my 
outlook on life.
Grainne O’Rourke on working  
to qualify as an advanced  
Reiki practitioner

The Stepping Stones programme supports residents in a broad range of courses and programmes, 
covering back to education, third level, and certificate and skills’ training. Grants for the programme 
are awarded by a panel of three judges and are based on the resident’s application. To apply for a grant, 
residents must outline how the award can help to improve and enrich their lives. 

Our awardees have spoken very favourably about the impact that the Stepping Stones 
programme will have on their lives. Here is a flavour of the variety of courses and the positive 
impact of this support:

Awards

26
Grants

€16,319 

Third level 
qualifications

15
Certificate and skills’  

qualifications

11

Class of 2020
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St. Mary’s Mansions, Dublin 
– Clúid’s €23m flagship 
regeneration project - the first 
redevelopment in Dublin’s North 
East Inner City, adopting the 
recommendations in the 2016 
Mulvey Report

David Rogers, Ganson Building & Civil Engineering 
Contractors Ltd. Director, Brian O’Gorman, Clúid CEO,
Fiona Cormican, Clúid New Business Director, Darragh 
O’Brien TD, Minister for Housing, Local Government and 
Heritage, Hazel Chu, Lord Mayor of Dublin
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St. Mary’s Mansions was built by Dublin Corporation 
over 70 years ago. Clúid has given the complex a total 
refurbishment, bringing it up to current standards. Two 
new floors were added, to create 80 well-sized, high-quality 
modern apartments and duplexes.

We rely on partnerships to deliver quality 
housing and services to our residents. 
The regeneration of St. Mary’s Mansions 
is an excellent example of what can be 
achieved through partnerships between 
Clúid, the Department of Housing, Local 
Government and Heritage, the Housing 
Finance Agency and local authorities,  
like Dublin City Council.

The regeneration of St. Mary’s is so  
much more than a redevelopment of a 
building. It is the reinstatement of the 
proud community that has lived here  
for many generations.
Fiona Cormican, New Business Director

   Building Energy Rating (BER): A
   Supplementary solar electricity
   Intelligent controlled thermostat heating
   Cutting-edge insulation technology
   High efficiency centralised heating systems
   On demand hot water.

Sustainability 

Residents: 
190+ 

Total new homes: 
80 

Project type: 
Regeneration

Location:  
Dublin 

Local authority: 
Dublin City Council

Cost: 

€23m 
Funding: 
The Department of Housing, Local  
Government and Heritage, the  
Housing Finance Agency and  
the European Investment Bank

Total number of Clúid 
homes in Dublin City Council: 

1,091
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Darragh O’Brien, TD, Minister for 
Housing, Local Government 
and Heritage with David Healy Cllr., 
Lord Mayor, Fingal County Council, and 
residents at the launch of Dún Sí, St. 
Marnocks Bay, Portmarnock in Dublin
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These new homes in Dún Sí, Portmarnock - 15 
delivered in 2020 and an additional 10 homes already 
in management - are part of Clúid’s commitment to 
deliver 3,000 new homes across the country before 
the end of 2022. Throughout 2020, Clúid delivered 93 
homes to families and single people on Fingal County 
Council’s housing list.

This is an excellent example of what 
can be achieved through partnerships 
between AHBs like Clúid, my own 
department and local authorities like 
Fingal County Council. 
Darragh O’Brien, TD, Minister for Housing,  
Local Government and Heritage

   Building Energy Rating (BER): A2
   Zone controlled heating
   Access to public transport networks
   High efficiency air-to-water heat pump systems
   Global Homes Warranties: 10 years.

Residents: 
50+ 

Total new homes: 
15

Project type: 
Part V
 
Location:  
Dublin 

Local authority: 
Fingal County Council

Cost: 

€4m 
Funding: 
The Department of Housing,  
Local Government and Heritage  
and the Housing Finance Agency

Total number of Clúid  
homes in Fingal County Council:

 302
Sustainability 
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Sruthán  
na Sailí

HIGHLIGHTS
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Sruthán na Sailí, Derreen in 
Killarney is one of Ireland’s 
largest sustainable social 
housing projects
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Sruthán na Sailí, Derreen, in Killarney, Kerry is one of 
Ireland’s largest sustainable social housing projects, 
delivered in partnership with Killarney-based company, 
Thermohouse. Manufacturing took place off-site in 
Killarney, using an innovative low energy modular build 
system, resulting in a number of eco homes with a BER 
rating of A1. In line with the objectives of our Greening 
Strategy, Clúid is proud that these homes have exceeded the 
EU’s Nearly Zero Energy Buildings’ (nZEB) requirements.

This innovative social housing project 
not only addresses the need for rapid-
build homes. It also creates greener, more 
energy efficient buildings, with lower 
fuel bills for our residents. These 83 new 
homes will provide much needed social 
housing and developments of this scale 
will continue to assist in alleviating some 
of the pressure placed on the private 
rented sector in Killarney too.
James O’Halloran, Senior Supply Team Manager

   Zero Energy Building (nZEB) compliant
   Building Energy Rating (BER): A1
   60% faster construction
   Solar
   Low airtight values of 0.4 m3/hr/m2.

Residents: 
240+ 

Total new homes: 
83 

Project type: 
Developer design and 
build and developer  
turnkey acquisition

Location:  
Kerry 

Local authority: 
Kerry County Council

Cost: 

€18m 
Funding: 
The Department of Housing,  
Local Government and Heritage  
and the Housing Finance Agency

Total number of Clúid homes  
in Kerry County Council:

400Sustainability 
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Trevor Murphy - 
Building and Grounds 
Attendant for Clúid’s  
schemes in Cork



Leadership

Delivering Robust 
Services

Clúid continued to provide a high 
level of service throughout 2020. 
This achievement is only possible 
through a joint commitment to 
cooperation between residents 
and staff. Clúid has made 
substantial progress across a 
whole range of areas in 2020. 
These include: our Data Strategy, 
Health and Safety policy and 
procedures, and new operational 
ways of working to adapt to the 
Covid19 pandemic
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SECTION THREE

Improving  
Our Services 
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OUR DATA STRATEGY

Clúid’s Data Strategy was adopted 
at the end of 2019 and 2020 was its 
first full year of implementation. The 
strategy has three main objectives: 

>  To improve the quality, accuracy 
and amount of data available  
to Clúid

>  To increase staff awareness of this 
data and their ability to use it

>  To use this data to inform and 
achieve the key objectives of our 
corporate strategy. 

The strategy has resulted in several 
different initiatives in 2020:

1. Communications - Clúid recognises 
that culture change is necessary 
across all levels of the organisation, 
so that we can become a data-
driven business. To underpin 
Clúid’s Data Strategy, a dedicated 
internal communications campaign 
called #Clúid data was rolled out, 
raising awareness of the benefits 
of data for decision-making and 
continuous improvement across the 
business. The campaign consisted 
of the publication of nine articles, 
five videos, one live event, and two 
competitions. To show the value, 

key performance indicators (KPIs) 
were shared with staff every two 
months through engaging posters. 

2. Data Quality Programme – To 
support the objectives of the 
Data Strategy, there was a need 
to create a cross-functional Data 
Quality Group (DQG) to lead the 
Data Quality Programme. This 
group was tasked with increasing 
the accuracy and reliability of 
core business data, resulting 
in operational efficiencies and 
increased confidence in the use of 
data to inform business decisions. 
Since the creation of the DQG, 
the group has completed a range 
of data cleansing activities and 
embedded system change. These 
activities have reduced data 
errors and gaps, with subsequent 
improvements in the reliability 
of customer mailings and the 
estimation of travel times for Clúid 
Works staff doing essential repairs.

3. Capacity building - Clúid aims to 
improve people’s ability to use data. 
To address this need, we started 
a data skills training programme, 
to ensure that staff can make 

The Clúid Data Quality Group was tasked with 
increasing the accuracy and reliability of our 
core business data, resulting in operational 
efficiencies and increased confidence in the use 
of data to inform business decisions.

#Clúid data

A training needs 
analysis reviewed 
key staff groups, 
including senior 
management and 
individuals involved 
in reporting.
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Clúid recognises 
that culture change 
is necessary across 
all levels of the 
organisation, so 
that we can become 
a data-driven 
business.

the best use of the information 
that we hold. It was important to 
develop the right skills in-house 
to analyse, visualise, and interpret 
this data. A competency framework 
for data skills was developed 
throughout 2020. This framework 
covered everything from data 
protection and data management 
to analytics. It is an important tool 
to understand the competencies 
required at recruitment and 
induction, as well as for ongoing 
learning and development. An 
all-staff interactive online data 
protection course was developed 
and completed in 2020. A training 
needs analysis reviewed key 
staff groups, including senior 
management and individuals 
involved in reporting. The 
implementation of the skills training 
programme to address gaps will 
continue during 2021. 

4. Business Intelligence (BI) 
Reporting - BI reporting provides 
real time data insights and reduces 
the need for manual reporting, 
which is time consuming, prone 
to error, and quickly out of date. 
During 2020, Clúid developed 

its first reports through Power BI, 
including a number of dashboards 
on the property and resident 
profile. BI enables Clúid to collect, 
visualise, and analyse business data, 
in order to gain insight and identify 
key trends in our KPIs. BI reporting 
will allow Clúid’s decision makers to 
monitor live visual KPI dashboards, 
to inform decisions and report on 
performance. This development 
required a change to Clúid’s data 
architecture and involved setting 
up a data warehouse and Extract, 
Transform, Load (ETL) layer. Work 
is ongoing to prioritise reporting 
requirements in 2021.

Business Intelligence 
enables Clúid to 
collect, visualise,  
and analyse business 
data, in order to  
gain insight and 
identify key trends  
in our KPIs.



CUSTOMER 
CONTACT CENTRE 

Working from home allows for a greater 
work life balance and the delivery of a great 
customer service experience.

Clúid’s Customer Contact Centre (CCC) 
was established in-house in January 
2012. It was a milestone moment for 
the organisation, highlighting our 
commitment to continue improving our 
residents’ customer service experience.
 
We want our residents to be able to say:

I have a comfortable home and  
Clúid helps me if I have a problem.  
I am treated fairly and equitably. I  
have choice when possible. My issues 
and problems are resolved quickly  
and accurately.

When Covid restrictions were 
introduced in March 2020, our team of 
15 staff in the dedicated CCC switched 
to working from home. The rollout of a 
cloud-based phone system ensured no 
break in customer service delivery for 
residents and suppliers. 

To move to an online environment, staff 
at the CCC received all the necessary 
training and equipment, including a 
second monitor, USB hubs and Wifi. 
The CCC team stayed in constant 
contact, using video conferencing and 
instant messaging. This allowed team 
members to work apart, but also to 
maintain close contact.

Working from Home in 2020

288,579 
Customer  
Service Contacts 

49,051 
Calls answered

55,039 
Emails sent 

106,900 
Post delivered

74,650 
SMS sent

2,939
Webchat contacts 

Customer 
Contact Centre 
at a glance
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An average wait time 
of 40 seconds, with 
81% of calls answered 
within one minute
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NATIONAL REPAIRS 
SERVICE

Clúid Works, our dedicated in-house 
property repairs team, gives residents access 
to a national repairs service, providing a 
quicker response time and resolution. 

Clúid Work’s has adapted how it 
operates to overcome obstacles caused 
by the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Out of crisis comes opportunity. This 
was the mantra adopted by Clúid 
Works, as it faced into the significant 
lockdown restrictions imposed 
throughout 2020, as a result of Covid. 
The Clúid Works team struck a balance 
between the health and safety of our 
staff and residents and maintaining an 
effective and efficient service in very 
difficult conditions.

The government guidelines allowed
emergency and essential works only. In 
response to the restrictions, a number 
of procedures were developed and 
implemented to ensure continuity 
of service delivery. The Clúid Works 
team worked with our Health and 
Safety Manager and prepared a series 
of relevant Covid questions. These 
questions were then put to residents as 
they phoned the helpline to report an 
issue and, again, when our repairs team 
arrived at the resident’s home.  

New ways of working were also 
necessary to maintain social distancing. 

Staff were required to wear Personal 
Protective Equipment and to observe 
specific hygiene protocols. The 
additional resource that became 
available as a result of responding to 
emergency and essential work was 
directed back into Clúid’s voids
work stream. The repairs work carried 
out within voids brings vacant homes 
up to standard for reallocation. The 
availability of resources within the team 
has allowed for a greater proportion 
of this important work to be delivered 
in-house. 

Engagement with staff who were 
working remotely was maintained by 
moving our monthly tool-box-talks to an 
online environment. This allowed for the 
continuity of team connection.   

Clúid Works supported the wider 
business during the pandemic. The 
team assisted in the deployment 
of sanitiser and equipment to staff 
members and schemes across the 
country. Clúid Works staff were also 
engaged to fit screens and carry out 
augmentation works to reception areas 
in many of our offices, making them 
safer for both staff and visitors. 

95%
Satisfaction rate 
with repairs

3.3 
Jobs per  
man per day

40 
Daily average  
number of repairs

1.69
Average number of 
repairs per property 
per year

7 
Average number  
of days to complete 
a repair

14,413
Total number  
of repairs for  
the year

Clúid Works 
at a glance

Elizabeth and her 
family live in Clúid’s 
Park Avenue scheme 
on the South Douglas 
Road in Cork
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PROPERTY SERVICES

A regional network of professional 
building surveyors and other property 
maintenance specialists is supported
by a central investment and asset 
management planning team. 

The duties of the team include 
developing long-term programmes for 
managing repairs, maintenance and 
servicing contracts. The team works 
across the business to ensure that the 
homes Clúid provide meet the needs 
of our residents now and into the future 
and that they are safe, comfortable and 
sustainably maintained.

Clúid’s Property Services 
team is responsible for 
the repair, maintenance 
and improvement of 
Clúid’s homes.

Asset 
Management

Ernedale Heights, Ballyshannon 
in Donegal has been 
transformed into a pioneering 
development of cosy, A-rated, 
nZEB homes. Ernedale Heights 
was the first project in the 
country to secure funding under 
the SEAI’s deep retrofit pilot 
programme

Asset Management in 2020

€4.25m
Planned 
Programme 
2020 (asset 
enhancements)
 

€1.34m
Cyclical Works

€3m 
Invested
(including grants)
to tackle
Fuel Poverty

Invest  
to Save

Stock Condition 
Surveys

>  New kitchens fitted – 133
>  New boilers and heat pumps 

installed – 83
>  New doors and windows 
 fitted – 485

>  Gas boiler service schedule 
 compliance – 99.9%
>  Electrical inspections completed 

– 455

>  BER unit upgrade programme, 
resulting in an average upgrade 
from a D1 to a B1 rating in 

 146 homes
>  Grant funding secured – €1.7m
>  Heating cost savings for 

residents through home 
improvements – approximately 
€250,000, resulting in a 
reduction of approximately 7.6 
metric tonnes in CO2 emissions

>  Clúid has saved over €6,000 in 
2020 by installing energy-

 efficient lighting in apartment 
blocks, resulting in a reduction 
of 6 metric tonnes in CO2 

 emissions

> Surveys completed – 1,402 
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FUNDING 
DELIVERY 2020

Clúid’s primary focus is to provide good 
quality, affordable, long-term housing to 
those in need. Our 675 new homes were 
funded from a mix of sources:

Private Finance 

 604
Management 
contracts 

 46
Capital Assistance 
Schemes 

 25

Funding Stream

We handed over 
the keys to 675 new 
homes in 2020675
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FUNDING OVERVIEW

Over the past 26 years, Clúid’s funding 
model has enabled the organisation 
to build a diversified portfolio across 
Ireland to meet the need for social 
housing. 

At the end of 2020, Clúid had 8,114 
homes under management, property 
assets of €1.15 billion and other 
assets, including offices and computer 
equipment of €6 million. 

Clúid’s funding model has drawn 
from a variety of sources and, as of 
December 2020, the funding mix for
these assets is shown in the Clúid 
Funding diagram below.

Financing new homes
When managing Clúid’s growth to 
build new homes, we have looked to 
ensure that the debt financing risks are 
controlled. Even though our growth is 
debt funded, our debt financing risks 
for Clúid are minimal. Our key debt 
ratio was 48% at the end of 2020, up 
from 44% at the end of 2019. This 
is comfortably within the regulatory 
threshold of 60%.

The Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS) 
and Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme 
(CLSS) grants are not expected to be 
repayable once the grant conditions 
are complied with, while all Housing 

Finance Agency (HFA) loans are being 
repaid with interest over the life of the 
loan. Payment and Availability (P&A) 
Agreements have funded the latest 
phase of growth, along with Capital 
Advanced Leasing Facility (CALF) 
loans of between 20% and 30% of the 
acquisition cost of the property. The 
CALF loan is repayable, with interest, at 
the end of the life of the loan. 
 

Turnover and expenses
Clúid’s finances performed strongly in 
2020, with annual income increasing 
to €59.4m and a surplus of €12.5m. A 
significant element of the increase in 
income was the growth in payments 

Clúid has always sought to innovate
and maximise its financial capacity 
to enable growth in the supply of 
social homes.

Clúid Funding
    HFA loans - €486 million

    CAS & CLSS grants - €424 million

    CALF loans - €154 million

    Other loans - €2 million

€486m

€424m

€2m

€154m

 
€59.4m

Clúid’s finances  
performed strongly in  
2020, with an annual  

income of €59.4m
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Baile an Rí, Dunlo, Ballinasloe in 
Galway, a new, age-appropriate 
scheme for residents of Clann

under the P&A Agreements (58% 
of 2020 income, compared to 
approximately 52% in 2019). Driving 
this growth in P&A income has been 
a key strategy in sustaining increased 
funding and supply of new social 
housing units. An additional 675 units 
came into management during the year 
which generated €0.5 million additional 
new rental income and €3 million 
additional P&A income.

Operating expenses increased over the 
period from €39.3m to €44.3m. This 
was driven by growth in units coming 
into management and the management 
of an enlarged development pipeline 
which has required additional staff 
across the organisation. 

Increased interest payable relates to the 
loans received to fund the growth in 
new units.  

Consultancy costs increased during the 
period as Clúid explored diversifying 
its funding base to reduce reliance in 
the future on government and Housing 
Finance loans. 

Sustainable Supply 
Clúid has always sought to innovate 
and maximise its financial capacity to 
enable growth in the supply of social 
homes, while also ensuring the long-
term security and quality of tenure for 
its existing residents. A key strategic 
objective for Clúid is to meet housing 
need across different tenure types. To 
achieve this, Clúid will look for new 
sources of funding and continue to 

work with existing funders, to develop 
new social and affordable schemes and 
deliver more housing. 

There is a robustness to the Clúid 
financial model and to its capacity 
to grow to meet housing need. This 
has been achieved through informed 
decision making over the last 26 years. 
Clúid intends to use this strength to 
further increase the number of homes 
our team delivers and to ensure that 
these are good quality and financially 
sustainable homes.

Clúid Turnover Clúid Surplus Operating Expenses
€59.4m

2020       2019

€46.9m

€12.5m
€7.2m

2020       2019 2020       2019

€44.3m
€39.3m
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VALUE FOR MONEY
STRATEGY

Our Value for Money strategy is 
focused on achieving this mission, by 
fully utilising our assets and resources 
in a cost efficient manner. Cost savings 
and financial improvement are critical 
to the delivery of the best service to 
our customers. 

Governance
The VfM strategy is agreed and 
monitored by the board. The board 
reviews management accounts, KPI 
reports, performance benchmarking 
and customer satisfaction surveys, to 
gain insight into our financial and 
service performance and to ensure that 
the strategy is being delivered.

Ensuring delivery
Clúid’s Operations Team manage and 
report on progress through the Joint 
Leadership Team. There are three 
recognised delivery strands:
 
1. Continuous improvement - 

examining daily activities
2. A twelve-month Action Plan - 

reviewing tasks requiring  
resources for improvement

3. Long-term strategic projects -  
often requiring more significant 
resource input.

 

The VfM strategy has several 
fundamental principles:

1. Embedding the strategy at all levels
2. Procuring goods and services using 

transparent procedures
3. Designing efficient systems and 

processes to deliver quality services
4. Understanding our costs and how 

they relate to performance
5. Sharing performance data and 

benchmarking to learn and improve
6. Exploring new partnerships and 

alternative service delivery methods 
to improve value

7. Adopting robust decision-making 
processes and rigorous appraisal of 
potential options

8. Communicating progress against 
VfM objectives to our staff, board 
and customers

9. Raising awareness of risk and 
developing risk management 
strategies.

Performance Benchmarking
Clúid is a member of the Housing 
Alliance (HA) Benchmarking Club, which 
was established in 2019. The table on 
the next page presents a score card of 
relevant measures.

 

Clúid’s Value for Money (VfM) strategy ensures
that we get the full benefit from our resources
and our assets. Clúid’s vision is a society 
where everyone has a great place to live. We 
aim to achieve this vision by providing quality 
housing and services to enable people to create 
homes and thriving communities. 

Cost savings 
and financial 
improvement are 
critical to the 
delivery of the 
best service to our 
customers. 

 1,032
properties planned for 

delivery this year, but this 
is contingent on Covid 
restrictions being lifted 

quickly, so that construction 
can progress
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Performance Benchmarking 
Highlights
Operating margin – The operating 
margin has continued to perform ahead 
of the sector median and is up 7% on 
2019. This increase is partly due to the 
additional contribution from the new 
properties that have come on stream 
during the year, but also the reduced 
property management service that 
we were able to deliver during the 
pandemic, as non-urgent maintenance 
works were delayed. This resulted in 
lower operating costs and contributed 
to a bigger margin.

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, 
Depreciation, Amortisation, Major. 
Repairs Included (EBITDA MRI) 
(as % of interest) – This calculation, 
which is commonly known as interest 
cover liquidity, shows a significant 
improvement on 2019. It is a good 

indication that the organisation 
continues to be well placed to service 
its interest payments and is well above 
our minimum requirements. 

Gearing – The change in this ratio 
reflects the level of growth we are 
funding through new borrowing. 
Our growth in gearing was at a slower 
pace in 2020 than it was for the sector, 
as a whole.

Headline social housing cost – The 
average social housing costs were lower 
in 2020 than 2019 and slightly above 
the sector median. The drop in costs 
is a direct result of the impact of Covid 
and decisions not to undertake non-
essential work.

Units developed – The sector is going 
through a period of rapid growth, with 
significant opportunities available. We 

succeeded in delivering 675 properties 
into management in 2020, despite 
Covid restrictions. Properties that 
were delayed will now be delivered 
during 2021. We plan to deliver 
1,032 properties this year, but this is 
contingent on Covid restrictions being 
lifted quickly, so that construction  
can progress.

Rent collected and arrears – In spite of 
Covid-19 and the resulting difficulties 
progressing cases with the Residential 
Tenancies Board (RTB) where required, 
rent and arrears management has 
shown improvement during 2020. 
Rent collection is forecast to reduce 
slightly overall, due to the 2021 
implementation of a programme to 
reimburse overpayments to those with 
rent accounts in excess credit.

 

Measure 2021 
Target

HA Benchmarking Club 
2020

HA Benchmarking Club 
2019

Clúid Median Clúid Median

Operating margin (overall) 38.0% 36.0% 32.0% 29.0% 27.5%

Operating margin (social housing) 38.0%  36.0% 35.0% 29.0% 29.0%

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, 
Amortisation, Major. Repairs Included (EBITDA 
MRI) (as % of interest)

167% 194.0% 194.0% 178.0% 192.0% 

Gearing 55% 48.0% 52.0% 44.0% 43.0%

Headline social housing cost per property €4,055 €3,847 €3,773 €4,059 €3,717

Percentage units developed   11.2% 9.1% 10.9% 11.3% 13.1%

Rent collected 102.0% 104.0% 100.2% 103.0% 99.45%

Arrears 2.8% 2.7% 3.21%  3.4% 4.75%

Average re-let time in days 80.0 96.8 109.0 68.3 103.0

Average new let time in days 50.0 51.8 60.0 46.6 46.6

Percentage of customers satisfied with the 
service delivered

92% 92.0% 86.0% 92.0% 86.0%

Ratio of responsive repairs to planned 
maintenance spend

0.91 0.91 0.73 0.95 1.07

Repairs per property 2.01 1.69 1.88 1.88 1.87

Gas safety compliance 100% 99.9% 95.5% 99.8% 95.0%

Employee Net Promoter Score (NPS) 55 51.75 
Two 

respondents 

36 Clúid was 
the only 

respondent
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Performance Benchmarking
Highlights (continued) 
Average re-let and new let times – 
We are leading the sector in this area, 
with the shortest average ready to let 
times. This has been made possible 
through the responsiveness of Clúid 
Works. Due to continued work with the 
Housing Alliance and the wider sector, 
it is expected that progress will be 
made in reducing the delays in other 
parts of the letting process.

Customer satisfaction with 
service delivery – A score of 92% 
demonstrates a strong performance 
and shows that we are providing 
services that are appreciated by 
residents. During 2020, a full customer 
satisfaction survey programme and 
two Resident Advisory Groups have 
been established in order to better 
understand how the services are 
received and how they can  
be improved.

Responsive repairs and planned 
maintenance spend – The cost of 
repairs and planned works were 
both slightly reduced in 2020, due 
to Covid19. The timing of the easing 
of the lockdown during the summer  
allowed the completion of the majority 
of the planned programme, leaving 
the ratio in line with expectation.                

Repairs per property – Clúid 
properties are, on average, twelve and 
a half years old, but the repair rate is 
generally lower than the average of 
3.5 repairs per property per annum 
commonly seen in mature stock. Due 
to Covid restrictions, repairs work 
was limited to emergency works 
and essential jobs only in 2020. An 
allowance for a potential backlog of 
work has been budgeted for in 2021.

Gas safety compliance – Following 
a health and safety assessment, gas 
servicing was suspended throughout 
2020. Servicing will be resumed and 
a full programme will be completed 
during 2021.

Employee Net Promoter Score (NPS) 
– Our employee Net Promoter Score 
(NPS) improved across the business 

to +55, indicating that employees are 
feeling very engaged and supported 
in their work and are closely aligned to 
our vision, mission and values.

2020 Achievements
As part of our VfM journey, we 
developed a measurement 
methodology in 2020. This was used 
across the entire business to measure 
our VfM performance.

The four main areas measured were:

>  Sustainability
>  Customer
>  Financial
>  Process improvements.

We delivered 102 VfM initiatives in 
2020. These included:

>  A carbon saving of 34,000kg
>  21 customer focused initiatives
>  €3.78m in financial savings
>  41 process improvements.

Flagship initiatives delivered include:

Introduction of Microsoft Teams, as 
part of our ongoing Cloud Strategy
Covid brought many organisational 
challenges, one of which was 
maintaining business as usual 
(BAU). ‘Teams’ was introduced across 
the company to allow us maintain 
relationships with partners, suppliers 
and our own internal teams. This also 
ensured that the National Residents 
Advisory Group, was able to continue 
to operate unimpeded and allowed us 
to maintain contact with other resident 
groups online. Through this initiative, 
we achieved savings of €100k across 
the business, by reducing travel time 
and expenditure.

Upgrading existing homes
Clúid continually endeavours to 
improve the quality of our homes. 
Through our work with SEAI, we 
identified properties which were 
performing poorly in terms of their 
energy efficiency. Through the Better 
Energy Communities Scheme we were 
able to upgrade 146 homes from an 
average D1 rating to a B2 rating. This 
will reduce the cost of heating the 

A Customer 
satisfaction with 
service delivery score 
of 92% demonstrates 
a strong performance 
and shows that we are 
providing services 
that are appreciated 
by residents.

 
€3.78m

In financial savings  
delivered through  

VfM initiatives in 2020



residents’ homes and will save, on 
average, 7,900kg of carbon dioxide 
annually. We were also able to avail of 
grant funding in excess of €1m from 
SEAI for this work.

Maintaining resident communication
Clann identified areas where regular 
interactions with residents would help 
combat loneliness and isolation during 
Covid. Clann created online activities 
or events to help empower, enable and 
encourage community involvement. 
Clúid residents over the age of 65 were 
included in these initiatives, creating 
better engagement and maintaining 
residents’ independence in both Clann 
and Clúid schemes across the country. 
To enable the development of these 
services, grants totalling €55,000 were 
received from various organisations. 
This funding also allowed for 
improvements in communal areas and 
enhanced accessibility across schemes 
and their environment, as a whole.

2021 planning
A key activity for 2021 will be the 
preparation of a five-year business plan, 
which will enable Clúid to fully identify 
the short to medium term impact of the 
initiatives implemented, following the 
operational service reviews carried out 
in 2020.

The team will continue to focus on 
improving how we measure the 
value added by new VfM initiatives. 
Whilst assessing cost savings is 
often straightforward, we will also 
seek to develop ever more robust 
methodologies for measuring and 
capturing the value of efforts  
centred on social, customer and 
sustainability improvements.

When making investments in areas 
such as our digital, environmental 
and resident engagement strategies, 
it is vital to consider and determine 
the expected outcomes. Looking five 
years ahead at the financial, social and 
environmental consequences, in detail, 
will ensure that we have a route map 
to clearly guide us in delivering the 
anticipated efficiencies, savings and 
value benefits.

We will continue with the resident 
engagement and customer feedback 
programmes that were so successfully 
launched in 2020 and we will be alert 
to opportunities to improve value for 
money in our daily work.
 
 

In the arena of external influence, 
and having been rewarded with the 
opportunity to be part of the cost 
rental pilot, we will continue in our 
efforts to address the following sector 
wide issues:

>  Government classification of 
approved housing bodies

>  The future of unsold affordable 
properties

>  The single differential rent and 
annual review process.

A key activity 
for 2021 will be 
the preparation 
of a five-year 
business plan. A
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Linda Leeson, a 
resident of a Clúid 
scheme in Kildare
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Maintaining high 
standards of 
corporate governance

The board of Clúid Housing 
is committed to maintaining 
high standards of corporate 
governance. Clúid is financially 
robust and independent. All 
income received is reinvested in 
the delivery of social homes for a 
diverse community of people.

SECTION FOUR

Our Governance 
and Financial 
Statements 
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GOVERNANCE

Clúid Housing is a registered charity 
and an approved housing body. The 
organisation adopted and supported 
the Voluntary Regulation Code for 
Approved Housing Bodies in Ireland. 
Clúid welcomed the announcement 
by the Department of Housing, Local 
Government, and Heritage that a new 
housing regulatory authority will be 
in place from early 2021. On 1st of 
February 2021, the Approved Housing 
Bodies Regulatory Authority (AHBRA) 
was established. Clúid will continue to 
engage with the regulatory framework 
ensuring effective governance, financial 
management and overall performance 
in preparation for the regulatory return 
to the AHBRA in 2022. 

2020 was a challenging year that tested 
the governance framework. The board 
met more frequently throughout the 
year with an increased focus on the 
health and safety of residents and staff, 
and on the protection of Clúid homes. 
From the onset of the Covid pandemic, 
board meetings moved online, the 
structures in place made the transition 
seamless and allowed the board to 
remain effective.

The Board of Clúid Housing
At any one time, the board of Clúid 
Housing must have at least five but no 
more than 14 members. A detailed
overview of the members of the board 
is available on pages 52 and 53 of this 
report. Board members, all of
whom are non-executive, are drawn 
from diverse backgrounds and bring a 
broad range of experience and skills
to their deliberations. 

All new board members receive detailed 
briefing documents on governance, and 
financial and operational information, 
and are given an opportunity to be 
briefed by executives on the different 
aspects of our business when they are 
appointed. We also provide organised 
familiarisation tours of a number of 
our housing schemes. Directors have 
access to training programmes and their 
ongoing development needs are kept 
under review. 

Board members cannot, under 
the governing documents, receive 
remuneration for services to Clúid 
Housing and may only be reimbursed 
for incidental expenses. The board 
aims to ensure a balance of both age 
and gender among members and 
openly advertises for positions. The 
board is committed to maintaining high 
standards of corporate governance. As 
an approved housing body, Clúid is 
regulated by the Housing Regulator 
and licensed by the Property Services 
Regulatory Authority. Members of the 
board are the custodians of Clúid’s 
vision, mission, and values. 

The board approves Clúid’s strategy, 
structure, business plans and budgets, 
and ensures that the organisation 
remains effective and accountable. 
The board delegates certain 
responsibilities to three main functional 
committees - the Audit and Risk 
Committee, the Business Development 
Committee and the Nominations 
and Remuneration Committee. Each 
committee has clear terms of reference 
and delegated authority. The board is 

responsible for appointing the Chief 
Executive and delegating a range of 
day-to-day decision-making powers to 
both the incumbent and the executive 
leadership team.

Appointments and 
Resignations
Members of the board are appointed 
for a term of four years. Members 
wishing to serve a further term must 
seek re-election at the AGM marking 
the end of their first four-year term. 
Members of the board may serve for 
a maximum of eight years. The board 
chair or former chair can continue 
to be a member of the board for an 
additional two years. 

There were no appointments to, or 
resignations from, the board of Clúid 
Housing in 2020.

Clúid is regulated by the Housing 
Regulator and licensed by the Property 
Services Regulatory Authority.

11
The board of  

Clúid Housing has  
11 members



Board and Committee Attendance 

Attendance at Board Meetings 

Mark Shakespeare (Chair) 8 of 8

Kathi Ó Riain (Vice Chair) 8 of 8

Des McCarthy (Treasurer) 8 of 8

Michael Cleary 6 of 8

Enda Cunningham 7 of 8

Eamonn Doyle 7 of 8

John Mark McCafferty 8 of 8

Anne McLoughlin 8 of 8

Paul Mooney 7 of 8

David Mullins 6 of 8

Aidan O’Hogan 8 of 8

Attendance at Audit and Risk Committee Meetings 

Enda Cunningham (Chair) 8 of 8

Eamonn Doyle 8 of 8

Kathi Ó Riain 6 of 8

Mark Shakespeare 7 of 8

Attendance at Business Development Committee Meetings 

Aidan O’Hogan (Chair) 5 of 6

Michael Cleary 5 of 6

John-Mark McCafferty 5 of 6

Des McCarthy 5 of 6

Paul Mooney 6 of 6

Attendance at Nominations and Remunerations* Committee Meetings 

Anne McLoughlin (Chair) 1 of 1

Aidan O’Hogan 1 of 1

* Nominations refers to the appointment of board members. 
Remuneration refers to the oversight of organisation wide remuneration 
policies and adjustments, with specific reference to the Executive 
Directors and senior management.

The board is 
committed to 
maintaining 
high standards 
of corporate 
governance. A
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Members of the 
board are the 
custodians of 
Clúid’s vision, 
mission,
and values



Mark Shakespeare  
Chair 
Mark is a senior director in Finance, 
working with Montreal incorporated 
SNC - Lavalin Group. Prior to the 
acquisition of Kentz Group by SNC, he 
was treasurer of London listed Kentz 
Group, and is based in Clonmel. He has 
served as treasurer of the McInerney 
Homebuilding Group for nearly 20 
years and has experience in the private 
and social housing markets in Ireland 
and the UK in that role. His previous 
career had been in the public sector.

Kathi Ó Riain  
Vice-Chair 
Kathi is a partner in the Commercial 
Property Department of the Dublin law 
firm, Eugene F. Collins. Originally from 
Cork, Kathi studied Law and German 
in UCC before moving to Dublin and 
doing a Masters in Trinity College. A 
fluent German speaker, she worked 
in the European Commission in Berlin 
before qualifying as a solicitor in the 
Law Society of Ireland. She also spent 
time working in a large law firm in 
London. She has extensive experience 
in all areas of commercial property law 
and has been involved in many high 
profile property transactions. 

Des McCarthy  
Treasurer 
Des has over 25 years’ experience 
in the financial services sector, 
encompassing roles in client facing 
and support functions. Des has spent  
a large part of his career structuring 
and financing large European 
infrastructure projects in the 
transportation, telecommunications, 
water and waste treatment sectors. 
Most recently Des was a board director 
and CFO of KBC Bank Ireland, with 
responsibility for the finance, treasury, 
credit and data functions. 

Michael Cleary 

Michael founded the property 
development and asset management 
company, Cleary McCabe & Associates 
in 1997. He is a member of the Institute 
of Directors in Ireland. Michael holds 
a Master’s Degree in Planning & 
Development Economics from Dublin 
Institute of Technology and is a fellow 
of the Society of Chartered Surveyors 
in Ireland and the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors. 

Enda Cunningham 

Enda is a fellow of The Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in Ireland. He is 
currently CEO of Matrix Claims Services 
Ltd. and has 14 years’ experience on 
PLC boards; having served as Finance 
Director of Athlone Extrusions plc and 
McInerney Holdings plc. In the latter 
role, he gained widespread experience 
of the UK and Irish housing markets, 
including direct experience of the 
housing association industry. He is a 
director of the Pavilion Theatre and 
holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree 
from NUI Galway. 

Eamonn Doyle 

Eamonn has spent 25 years as Chief 
Executive or Chief Operations Officer 
in the technology and financial services 
sectors. Through these roles, he has 
extensive management experience of 
information technology, programme 
management, risk management, and 
governance – much of that gained in 
complex multi-country environments. 
His previous employers were IBM, 
Capgemini, and the Davy Group.
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John-Mark 
McCafferty 
John-Mark is Chief Executive of 
Threshold, the national housing charity, 
whose aim is to prevent homelessness 
through advice, tenancy protection and 
advocacy. He took up this position in 
January 2017. Prior to joining Threshold, 
John-Mark was Head of Social Justice 
and Policy with the Society of St. Vincent 
de Paul, working on policies including 
income, utilities, child poverty, financial 
inclusion, housing and sustainable 
development.

Anne McLoughlin 

Anne is an independent consultant and 
non-executive director providing support 
and advice to boards and organisations 
on strategy and governance. Anne’s 
reputation is built on a successful 
career as a highly effective Operations 
Director and in the last few years as a 
successful interim executive director 
in the social housing sector; devising 
and implementing turn around projects 
that stabilize and transform services. 
She is regularly invited to speak at 
national and international events about 
asset management, sustainability, fuel 
poverty, governance, and the needs of 
destitute migrants. Anne is a trustee of 
the Refugee Council and former Chair of 
Innisfree Housing Association.

Paul Mooney 

Paul Mooney is a director of Cushman 
and Wakefield, a global commercial 
real estate agency, and is Head of 
Asset Services for Ireland. Prior to 
joining Cushman and Wakefield, Paul 
was managing director and founder of 
Benchmark Property, a specialist property 
management agency. Paul has worked 
in property management for almost 
thirty years and is a member of the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors and 
Society of Chartered Surveyors of Ireland. 
Paul is a former member of the board 
of the Property Services Regulatory 
Authority where he served two terms 
and is currently Honorary Treasurer of the 
Society of Chartered Surveyors of Ireland. 
Paul lectures in property management 
for Technical University Dublin and the 
Society of Chartered Surveyors.

David Mullins 

David is Professor of Housing Policy at 
the University of Birmingham. For nearly 
30 years he has led research projects on 
the role of housing associations in the 
delivery of housing policy. David is a 
member of the coordination committee 
of the European Network for Housing 
Research (ENHR) and leads the ENHR 
working group on social housing 
governance. He has been a member 
of three housing association boards in 
England and has worked for the Housing 
Corporation and for two London local 
authority housing departments. 

Aidan O’Hogan
 
Aidan is Managing Director of Property 
Byte Ltd. He has over 40 years’ 
experience in real-estate and is a council 
member and former chair of Property 
Industry Ireland, a non-executive 
director of IRES REIT plc. and a former 
non-executive director of Cairn Homes 
plc. He is a fellow of the Royal Institute 
of Chartered Surveyors and the Society 
of Chartered Surveyors Ireland. He is a 
member of the Friends First Property 
Advisory Committee and former Chair 
of the Coombe Women and Infants’ 
University Hospital.

The board 
approves 
Clúid’s strategy, 
structure, 
business plans 
and budgets and 
ensures that the 
organisation 
remains effective 
and accountable.
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Company Information

Directors Mark Shakespeare (Chair)
Kathi Ó Riain (Vice Chair) 
Des McCarthy (Treasurer) 
Michael Cleary
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Company secretary Eibhlin O’Connor

Company number 212249
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Independent auditor Grant Thornton
Chartered Accountants & Statutory Audit Firm
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Directors’ report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020

Principal activities
Clúid Housing Association is a Company 
limited by guarantee (Registered 
Company Number: 212249) and a 
registered charity (Registered Charity 
Number: 20029975).

The main activities of the Company are 
charitable and relate to the provision 
of social and affordable housing across 
a wide spectrum of housing needs. All 
income is applied solely towards the 
promotion of the charitable
objectives of the Company.

Overview of the business
Clúid is the largest provider of social 
housing in the Republic of Ireland, 
offering housing solutions from general 
needs to housing for people with care 
and support needs.

There continues to be a housing 
shortage in Ireland, especially affordable 
homes for lower and middle‑income 
individuals and families. Clúid remains 
committed to delivering as many new 
homes as possible each year and 
providing a range of options to meet 
these needs.

Governance 
and management
Clúid was designated an Approved 
Housing Body (AHB) in 1994. Having 
adopted and supported the Voluntary 
Regulation Code for AHBs since its 
launch, the association welcomed the 
announcement by the Department of 
Housing, Local Government & Heritage 
that a new housing regulatory authority 
will be in place from early 2021, with full 
implementation of statutory regulation 
from early 2022.

Clúid is governed by a board composed 
entirely of non‑executive directors 
drawn from a range of backgrounds. 
The board delegates certain 
responsibilities to three main functional 
committees ‑ the Audit and Risk 
Committee, the Business Development 
Committee and the Nominations 
and Remuneration Committee. Each 
committee has clear terms of reference 
and delegated authority. The chair of 
each committee provides the board 
with regular reports on their activities, 
findings and recommendations.

The year under review
Despite the significant economic and 
social impact of government restrictions, 
introduced during the year, in response 
to the Covid‑19 global pandemic, 
Clúid continued to deliver a strong 
operational and financial performance, 
achieving an overall surplus of €12.5 
million for 2020, an increase of €5.2 
million on 2019.

At the end of the year the Company had 
8,114 units under management. This 
represents an increase of 645 on 2019 
against a pre‑ Covid target of 783. Clúid 
plans to deliver c.2,500 additional units 
over the next three years.

Clúid has continued to maintain a 
strong Balance Sheet and on 31 
December 2020:

• The carrying value of the association’s 
housing stock, less depreciation and 
excluding freehold properties, stood 
at €1.2 billion, with additions of €142 
million in 2020 (2019: €230 million)

• The total borrowing via the Housing 
Finance Agency (HFA) and the 
Capital Advance Leasing Facility 
(CALF) increased by 24% to €642 
million (2019: €516 million) with HFA 
and CALF funding of €121 million 
drawn down during the year (2019: 
€210 million)

• Reserves at the year end  
amounted to €110.5 million  
(2019: €98.1 million).

In December 2020 Clúid secured access 
to €54 million of private funding via 
Legal and General Assurance Society 
Limited (LGAS).

Risk Management
The Company’s activities expose it to a 
wide range of risks. These are identified, 
recorded, assessed and managed via 
a comprehensive risk management 
framework and corporate risk register 
that is closely monitored by the Audit 
and Risk Committee and reviewed at 
every meeting of the board.

At any one time a wide range of 
strategic, operational, governance and 
financial risks are actively managed 
and monitored to ensure that the 
overall exposure to the association 
remains within risk appetite parameters 
determined by the board for each 
category of risk.

During 2020, the onset of the Covid‑19 
pandemic presented a unique 
challenge in terms of operational risk 
management, but this did not detract 
from the focus given to the portfolio 
of existing risks, and, in particular, 
those associated with our treasury 
management activities, as described on 
page 57.

Impact of Covid-19 
Ireland is currently attempting to curtail 
the spread of the virus. As a result of 
the social distancing guidelines issued 
by the government during this time, we 
have closed our Dublin head office and 
regional offices to all but essential staff, 
with staff successfully implementing 
alternative working arrangements.

The directors present their Annual Report and the 
audited financial statements for the financial year ended 
31 December 2020.
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Directors’ report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

The direct impact on the existing units 
in management has been reviewed and 
assessed as low due to the nature of the 
business. The shutdown of construction 
sites, and the uncertainty as to when 
they will reopen, will have a major 
impact on the delivery and funding of 
new developments. We are actively 
engaging with funders and developers 
to ensure development can be delivered 
once the government restrictions 
are lifted.

For the period of the shutdown, we 
restricted repairs to emergencies 
and to essential contacts between 
staff and residents. The shutdown 
period will impact on expenditure, 
but this is expected to rebound once 
this phase has ended. Income is split 
evenly between government backed 
contracts and residents’ rents, and 
both have proved resilient so are not 
at risk at this point. The business will 
strive to continue to operate normally, 
and it is envisaged that revenues and 
expenditure may be delayed but will 
not be materially impacted. We have 
assessed the impact on the liquidity 
of the business over the next nine 
months and are confident that our 
cash position is robust and able to 
withstand significant impact from any 
prolonged disruption. 

Treasury management
Treasury activities focus on ensuring that 
Clúid has access to sufficient levels of 
cash and facilities to enable it to meet 
its short‑term funding requirements. 
Clúid always plans to have facilities 
available at an acceptable cost in 
accordance with the annual budget as 
approved by the board. Clúid treasury 
management is designed to mitigate 
the impact of any adverse movements 
in interest rates, to ensure that loan 
covenants are met and to rank the 
preservation of capital ahead of returns 
when making investment decisions.
Detailed 18‑month rolling cash flow 
forecasts are prepared and reviewed 
each quarter, in addition to longer 
term forecasts linked to our business 
plan. We aim to operate a conservative 
counterparty risk management strategy. 
The strategy aims to minimise the 
risk of financial loss, reputational loss 
or liquidity exposure resulting from 
a counterparty risk to any treasury 
transaction becoming insolvent. Stress 
testing of financial plans is used to 
identify key vulnerabilities and inform 
action plans to mitigate against the 
relevant risks.

At 31 December 2020, 97% of Clúid’s 
drawn down debt was at fixed interest 
rates (2019: 96%). This was split as 
follows: CALF 25%, HFA 74.5% and 
non‑residential 0.5%. Clúid manages 
its exposure to fluctuations in interest 
rates on long‑term debt by ensuring 
it accesses funding at a fixed rate, 
where possible, providing security and 
assurance to our residents.

Loan covenants are regularly reviewed 
and compliance is reported to the 
board. All covenants were met 
throughout the year for all loan facilities.

Our people
Clúid develops and delivers new 
housing solutions and manages tenancy 
relationships for a large property 
portfolio, while maintaining an asset 
base of over €1 billion. To achieve this, 
Clúid draws on the skills and enthusiasm 
of our staff to build more homes, 
provide attractive and safe environments 
and offer exemplary customer service. 
2020 presented a unique challenge to 
managers and staff, as they continued to 
deliver services, despite the restrictions 
introduced by the government to 
address the global Covid‑19 pandemic. 
Our staff profile in December 2020 was 
as follows:

Staff composition 
- gender

Staff composition 
- Executive Team

Staff composition 
- age 

Over 50 years
19%

Under 25 years
2%

25 to 34 years
21%

Female
46%

Male
54%

35 to 50 years
58%

Female
50%

Male
50%

Staff composition 
- gender

Staff composition 
- Executive Team

Staff composition 
- age 

Over 50 years
19%

Under 25 years
2%

25 to 34 years
21%

Female
46%

Male
54%

35 to 50 years
58%

Female
50%

Male
50%

Staff composition 
- gender

Staff composition 
- Executive Team

Staff composition 
- age 

Over 50 years
19%

Under 25 years
2%

25 to 34 years
21%

Female
46%

Male
54%

35 to 50 years
58%

Female
50%

Male
50%
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Directors’ report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

Partnerships
Clúid has learned from experience that 
we can achieve more in partnership than 
we can alone. Therefore, we continue to 
engage with partners from the private, 
local authority and housing association 
sectors to create new opportunities 
and to ensure a strong delivery 
pipeline for new homes across different 
tenure models.

Health and safety 
of employees
The wellbeing of the Company’s 
employees is safeguarded through 
strict adherence to health and safety 
standards. Health and safety legislation 
imposes certain requirements on 
employers and Clúid has taken the 
necessary action to ensure compliance 
with the relevant legislation, including 
the requirements and associated 
guidance issued, to ensure the safety 
and wellbeing of staff during the 
current pandemic.

Environmental matters
The Company has always sought to 
minimise adverse impacts on the 
environment from its activities, while 
continuing to address health, safety 
and economic issues. To the best of 
its knowledge, Clúid continues to 
comply with all applicable legislation 
and regulations.

Clúid is developing a ‘Greening 
Strategy’ that will set a clear direction 
for the Company over the next decade, 
as we seek to reduce our environmental 
impact, contribute to Ireland’s emission 
reduction targets, impact positively 
on biodiversity, and help to create a 
sustainable future for all.

Accounting records
The measures taken by the directors 
to ensure compliance with the 
requirements of Sections 281 to 
285 of the Companies Act 2014 
include the keeping of accounting 
records, employing appropriately 
qualified accounting personnel and 
maintaining computerised accounting 
systems. Clúid’s accounting records 
are maintained at the Company’s 
registered office at 159‑161 Sheriff 
Street Upper, Dublin 1.

Directors’ 
compliance statement
Each of the persons who were directors 
at the time when this Annual Report 
was approved has acknowledged  
that they are responsible for securing 
the Company’s compliance with all 
relevant obligations.

To ensure that the Company has 
achieved material compliance with 
its relevant obligations, the directors 
confirm that they have:

• Drawn up a compliance policy 
statement, setting out the Company’s 
policies on compliance with all 
relevant obligations

• Put in place the appropriate 
arrangements and structures to 
secure material compliance with the 
Company’s relevant obligations

• Conducted a review, during the 
financial year, of the arrangements 
and structures, referred to above.

Audit committee statement
The Company has established an Audit 
and Risk Committee. This committee is 
chaired by Enda Cunningham.

Events since the end 
of the year
Apart from the impact of Covid‑19, as 
mentioned above, there have been no 
significant events affecting the Company 
since the year end.

Future developments
The Company plans to continue its 
present activities.

Statement of relevant 
audit information
Each of the persons who were directors 
at the time when this directors’ report 
was approved has confirmed that:

• As far as the director is aware, there is 
no relevant audit information of which 
the Company’s auditors are unaware

• The director has taken all the steps 
that ought to have been taken as a 
director to be aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish 
that the Company’s auditors are 
aware of that information.

Auditors
The auditors, Grant Thornton, continue 
in office in accordance with Section 
383(2) of the Companies Act 2014.

This report was approved by the board on:

8th April 2021

and signed on its behalf by:

Mark Shakespeare (Chair) Des McCarthy (Treasurer)
Director Director
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Directors’ responsibilities statement
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020

The directors are responsible for 
preparing the directors’ report and the 
financial statements, in accordance with 
Irish law and regulations.

Irish company law requires the directors 
to prepare the financial statements for 
each financial year. Under the law, the 
directors have elected to prepare the 
financial statements in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2014 and Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland’.

Under company law, the directors must 
not approve the financial statements 
unless they are satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities 
and financial position of the Company 
as at the financial year‑end date and 
of the profit or loss for that financial 
year and otherwise comply with the 
Companies Act 2014.

In preparing these financial statements, 
the directors are required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies for 
the Company’s financial statements 
and then apply them consistently

• Make judgments and accounting 
estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent

• State whether the financial 
statements have been prepared 
in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards, identify those 
standards and note the effect and the 
reasons for any material departure 
from those standards

• Prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis, unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for 
ensuring that the Company keeps, or 
causes to be kept, adequate accounting 
records, which correctly explain and 
record the transactions of the Company; 
enable at any time the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss of 
the Company to be determined with 
reasonable accuracy; enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements 
and directors’ report comply with the 
Companies Act 2014 and enable the 
financial statements to be audited. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Company and, hence, 
for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the 
corporate and financial information 
included on the Company’s website. 
Legislation in the Republic of Ireland 
governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

On behalf of the board:

Mark Shakespeare (Chair) Des McCarthy (Treasurer)
Director Director

8th April 2021
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Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of Clúid Housing Association

Opinion
We have audited the financial 
statements of Clúid Housing 
Association, which comprise the 
Statement of comprehensive income, 
the Statement of financial position, the 
Statement of changes in equity and 
the Statement of cash flows for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2020 
and the related notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in the preparation of 
the financial statements is Irish law and 
accounting standards, issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council, including 
FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland’ (Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice in Ireland).

In our opinion, Clúid Housing 
Association’s (the Company’s) 
financial statements:

• Give a true and fair view, in 
accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice in Ireland of 
the assets, liabilities and financial 
position of the Company as at 31 
December 2020 and of its financial 
performance for the financial year 
then ended

• Have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2014.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on 
Auditing (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the 
Responsibilities of the auditor for the 
audit of the financial statements section 
of our report. We are independent 
of the Company, in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of financial 
statements in Ireland, namely the Irish 
Auditing and Accounting Supervisory 
Authority (IAASA) Ethical Standard 
concerning the integrity, objectivity and 
independence of the auditor and the 

ethical pronouncements established by 
Chartered Accountants Ireland, applied 
as determined to be appropriate in the 
circumstances for the entity. We have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Conclusions relating to 
going concern
In auditing the financial statements, 
we have concluded that the directors’ 
use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, 
we have not identified any material 
uncertainties relating to events 
or conditions that, individually or 
collectively, could cast significant doubt 
on the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern for a period of at 
least twelve months from the date when 
the financial statements are authorised 
for issue.

Our responsibilities and the 
responsibilities of the directors with 
respect to going concern are described 
in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information
Other information comprises 
information included in the Annual 
Report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report, 
including the directors’ report thereon. 
The directors are responsible for the 
other information. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover 
that information and, except to the 
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our 
report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the 
financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies in the financial 
statements, we are required to 
determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements 
or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report 
that fact.

We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Matters on which we are 
required to report by the 
Companies Act 2014
• We have obtained all the information 

and explanations which we consider 
necessary for the purposes of 
our audit.

• In our opinion, the accounting 
records of the Company were 
sufficient to permit the financial 
statements to be readily and 
properly audited.

• The financial statements 
are in agreement with the 
accounting records.

• In our opinion the information given 
in the directors’ report is consistent 
with the financial statements. Based 
solely on the work undertaken 
in the course of our audit, in our 
opinion, the directors’ report has 
been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2014.

Matters on which we 
are required to report 
by exception
Based on our knowledge and 
understanding of the Company and 
its environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not 
identified material misstatements in the 
directors’ report.
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Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of Clúid Housing Association (continued)

Under the Companies Act 2014, we 
are required to report to you if, in our 
opinion, the disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration and transactions specified 
by Sections 305 to 312 of the Act have 
not been made. We have no exceptions 
to report arising from this responsibility.

Responsibilities of the 
management and those 
charged with governance for 
the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Directors’ 
responsibilities statement, management 
is responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements, which give a 
true and fair view in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
in Ireland, including FRS102 and for 
such internal control as they determine 
necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, 
management is responsible for 
assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the 
management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance 
are responsible for overseeing the 
Company’s financial reporting process.

Responsibilities of the 
auditor for the audit of the 
financial statements
The auditor’s objectives are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error and to 
issue an Auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will 
always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 
ISAs (Ireland), the auditor exercises 
professional judgment and maintains 
professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. They also:

• Identify and assess the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud 
or error; design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks 
and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control

• Obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit, in order 
to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control

• Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures 
made by management

• Conclude on the appropriateness 
of management’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence 
obtained, determine whether a 
material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If they conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, 
they are required to draw attention 
in the auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify their opinion. Their 
conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of 

the auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern

• Evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves 
a true and fair view.

The auditor shall communicate with 
those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that may be identified during 
the audit.

The purpose of our audit 
work and to whom we owe 
our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the 
Company’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with Section 391 of the 
Companies Act 2014. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to 
them in an Auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose.

To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than 
the Company and the Company’s 
members as a body for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

Michael Shelley

For and on behalf of:

Grant Thornton
Chartered Accountants & Statutory 
Audit Firm Dublin 

8th April 2021
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Statement of comprehensive income
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Note € €

Turnover  3 59,431,443 46,951,496

Gross surplus 59,431,443 46,951,496

Administrative expenses (46,439,187) (43,259,289)

Other operating income  4 12,600,555 12,579,266

Surplus on maintenance costs  5 151,110 314,862

Operating surplus  6 25,743,921 16,586,335

Interest receivable and similar income  10 258 766

Interest payable and expenses  11 (13,285,020) (9,354,908)

Surplus before taxation 12,459,159 7,232,193

Surplus for the financial year 12,459,159 7,232,193

All amounts relate to continuing operations.

There was no other comprehensive income for 2020 (2019:€NIL).

The notes on pages 66 to 77 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Note € €

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets  12 1,158,244,023 1,032,381,270

1,158,244,023 1,032,381,270

Current assets

Stocks  13 171,374 169,149

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year  14 9,608,208 11,007,111

Cash at bank and in hand  15 30,200,231 19,285,926

39,979,813 30,462,186

Current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year  16 (35,288,394) (28,653,263)

Net current assets 4,691,419 1,808,923

Total assets less current liabilities 1,162,935,442 1,034,190,193

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one 
year  17 (1,052,392,794) (936,106,700)

Net assets 110,542,648 98,083,493

Capital and reserves

Designated reserve  19 23,789,489 23,789,489

Deferred amortisation reserve  19 70,144,987 63,070,835

Other restricted reserve  19 785,500 785,500

Income and expenditure account  19 15,822,672 10,437,669

Shareholders’ funds 110,542,648 98,083,493

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board:

8th April 2021

Mark Shakespeare (Chair) Des McCarthy (Treasurer)
Director Director

The notes on pages 66 to 77 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020

Designated 
reserve

Deferred 
amortisation 

reserve

Other 
reserve

Income and 
expenditure 

account

Total 
reserves

€ € € € €

1 January 2020 23,789,489 63,070,835 785,500 10,437,665 98,083,489

Surplus for the financial year - - - 12,459,159 12,459,159

Transfer to/from income and expenditure account - 7,074,152 - (7,074,152) -

31 December 2020 23,789,489 70,144,987 785,500 15,822,672 110,542,648

Statement of changes in equity
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Designated 
reserves

Deferred 
amortisation 

reserve

Other 
reserve

Income and 
expenditure 

account

Total 
reserves

€ € € € €

1 January 2019 23,789,489 56,964,797 785,500 9,311,514 90,851,300

Surplus for the financial year - - - 7,232,193 7,232,193

Transfer to/from income and expenditure account - 6,106,038 - (6,106,038) -

31 December 2019 23,789,489 63,070,835 785,500 10,437,669 98,083,493

The notes on pages 66 to 77 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
€ €

Cash flows from operating activities

Surplus for the financial year 12,459,159 7,232,193

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of tangible assets 15,545,890 13,756,053

Loss on disposal of tangible assets 740,649 458,912

Government grants (12,600,555) (12,579,266)

Interest paid 13,285,020 9,354,908

Interest received (258) (766)

Decrease/(increase) in stocks (2,225) 17,662

(Increase)/decrease in debtors 1,397,714 (2,047,507)

Increase in creditors 3,577,019 8,238,782

Net cash generated from operating activities 34,402,413 24,430,971

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (142,148,107) (229,870,057)

Sale of tangible fixed assets - 607,504

Interest received 258 766

Net cash outflow from investing activities (142,147,849) (229,261,787)

Cash flows from financing activities

New secured loans 126,189,094 207,871,404

Interest paid (13,285,020) (9,354,908)

Government grants received 5,755,667 3,774,911

Net cash used in financing activities 118,659,741 202,291,407

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 10,914,305 (2,539,409)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 19,285,926 21.825,335

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 30,200,231 19,285,926

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year comprise:

Cash at bank and in hand 30,200,231 19,285,926

30,200,231 19,285,926

The notes on pages 66 to 77 form part of these financial statements.

Analysis of changes in net debt

At start  
of year

Cash FX 
movements

Other non‑ 
cash changes

At end  
of year

€ € € € €

Cash 19,285,926 10,914,305 ‑ ‑ 30,200,231

Loans falling due within one year 10,743,365 (10,458,684) ‑ 13,516,796 13,801,477

Loans falling due after more than one year 505,100,832 136,647,778 ‑ (13,516,796) 628,231,814

Grants falling due after more than one year 431,005,868 5,755,667 ‑ (12,600,555) 424,160,980

Total 966,135,991 142,859,066 - (12,600,555) 1,096,394,502
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Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020

1.  Accounting policies
1.1  Company information

Clúid Housing Association is a 
Company limited by guarantee, having 
no share capital, incorporated in 
Ireland on 26 January 1994 (Company 
number 212249). The Company is a 
registered charity.

1.2  Basis of preparation of 
financial statements

The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with ‘Financial 
Reporting Standard 102’, the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and the Republic of Ireland 
and Irish statute comprising of the 
Companies Act 2014.

The preparation of financial statements 
in compliance with FRS 102 requires 
the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise judgment in applying 
the Company’s accounting policies 
(See Note 2).

The following principal accounting 
policies have been applied:

1.3  Turnover

Turnover represents rental income 
receivable from residents, revenue 
donations from third parties, 
management fees, development fees 
and revenue grants receivable from local 
authorities, the Department of Housing, 
Local Government and Heritage 
and the Health Service Executive. 
Availability income is received from 
local authorities in line with the signed 
payment and availability agreements. 
Turnover is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration received or 
receivable, net of value added tax. All 
income is recognised if: the company 
has entitlement to that income; if it 
is probable that the income will be 
received and if the amount of income 
receivable can be measured reliably.

Development fees

Development fees receivable are 
credited to income in the period 
in which the development work 
is undertaken.

Management and 
maintenance subsidies

Management and maintenance 
subsidies are payable annually by the 
local authorities to the Company in 
respect of projects completed under 
the Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme 
(CLSS). Management and maintenance 
subsidies are offset against planned 
maintenance expenditure within the 
Statement of comprehensive income.

1.4  Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets under the cost 
model are stated at historical cost, 
less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. 
Historical cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to bringing 
the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended 
by management.

1.5  Tangible fixed assets (continued)

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate 
the cost of assets less their residual 
value over their estimated useful lives, 
using the straight‑line method. 

Depreciation is provided on the 
following basis:

Land and housing 
properties

‑ see 1.6

Freehold property ‑ 2‑3% straight line

Plant and 
machinery

‑ 33% straight line

Motor vehicles ‑ 20% straight line

Office equipment ‑ 25% straight line

Computer 
equipment

‑ 33% straight line

The assets’ residual values, useful 
lives and depreciation methods are 
reviewed and adjusted prospectively if 
appropriate, or if there is an indication 
of a significant change since the last 
reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing the 
proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are recognised in the Statement of 
comprehensive income.

1.6  Land and housing properties

Housing properties are properties 
available for rent, which are held at cost 
less depreciation. Housing properties 
in the course of development are also 
stated at cost. Housing properties 
have been split between their land 
and structure costs and a specific set 
of major components which require 
periodic replacement.

Components are depreciated over the 
estimated useful life of the component 
(excluding land) as follows:

Component useful economic life (years)

Land   Not depreciated
Structure 100
Roof 60
Heating 15
Windows 30
Electrical 30
Bathroom 30
Kitchen 20
Lift 40

Cost includes the cost of acquiring land 
and buildings, the cost of construction 
and capitalised interest.

Freehold land is not depreciated. 

Depreciation is charged on completed 
housing properties, excluding the land 
element, on a straight line basis over the 
useful economic life of the component. 
Properties in the course of development 
are not depreciated. Interest incurred 
on a loan financing a development 
is capitalised up to the date of the 
completion of that development.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

1.  Accounting policies 
(continued)

1.7  Operating leases: the 
Company as lessee

Rentals paid under operating leases 
are charged to the Statement of 
comprehensive income on a straight line 
basis over the lease term.

Benefits received and receivable as an 
incentive to sign an operating lease 
are recognised on a straight line basis 
over the period until the date the 
rent is expected to be adjusted to the 
prevailing market rate.

1.8  Housing loans

Specific loans are advanced by the 
Housing Finance Agency (HFA) and 
by the Department of Housing, Local 
Government and Heritage under the 
Capital Advance Leasing Facility (CALF), 
subject to the terms of individual 
loan agreements. Interest and capital 
repayments are required to be made in 
respect of these loans.

1.9  Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value, being the 
estimated selling price, less costs 
to complete and sell. Cost is based 
on the cost of purchase on a first in, 
first out basis. Work in progress and 
finished goods include labour and 
attributable overheads.

At each reporting date, stocks are 
assessed for impairment. If stock 
is impaired, the carrying amount is 
reduced to its selling price less costs 
to complete and sell. The impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

1.10  Debtors

Short‑term debtors are measured at 
transaction price, less any impairment. 
Loans receivable are measured initially 
at fair value, including transaction 
costs and are measured subsequently 
at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment.

1.11  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is represented by cash in hand 
and deposits with financial institutions 
repayable without penalty on notice 
of not more than 24 hours. Cash 
equivalents are highly liquid investments 
that mature in no more than three 
months from the date of acquisition 
and are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of 
change in value.

In the Statement of cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalents are shown net of 
bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and form an integral part of the 
Company’s cash management.

1.12  Financial instruments

The Company only enters into basic 
financial instrument transactions that 
result in the recognition of financial 
assets and liabilities like trade and 
other debtors and creditors, loans from 
banks and other third parties, loans 
to related parties and investments in 
ordinary shares.

Debt instruments (other than those 
wholly repayable or receivable within 
one year), including loans and other 
accounts receivable and payable, are 
initially measured at present value of 
the future cash flows and, subsequently, 
at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method. Debt instruments 
that are payable or receivable within 
one year, typically trade debtors and 
creditors, are measured, initially and 
subsequently, at the undiscounted 
amount of the cash or other 
consideration expected to be paid or 
received. However, if the arrangements 
of a short‑term instrument constitute 
a financing transaction, the financial 
asset or liability is measured, initially at 
the present value of future cash flows, 
discounted at a market rate of interest 
for a similar debt instrument and, 
subsequently, at amortised cost, unless 
it qualifies as a loan from a director in 
the case of a small company, or a public 
benefit entity concessionary loan.

Investments in non‑derivative 
instruments that are equity to the issuer 
are measured:

• At fair value with changes recognised 
in the Statement of comprehensive 
income if the shares are publicly 
traded or their fair value can 
otherwise be measured reliably

• At cost less impairment for all 
other investments.

Financial assets that are measured 
at cost and amortised cost are 
assessed at the end of each reporting 
period for objective evidence of 
impairment. If objective evidence of 
impairment is found, an impairment 
loss is recognised in the Statement of 
comprehensive income.

For financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, the impairment loss is 
measured as the difference between 
an asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated cash flows, 
discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate. If a financial asset 
has a variable interest rate, the discount 
rate for measuring any impairment loss 
is the current effective interest rate 
determined under the contract.

For financial assets measured at cost 
less impairment, the impairment loss 
is measured as the difference between 
an asset’s carrying amount and the 
best estimate of the recoverable 
amount, which is an approximation of 
the amount that the Company would 
receive for the asset if it were to be sold 
at the reporting date.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset 
and the net amount reported in the 
Statement of financial position, when 
there is an enforceable right to set off 
the recognised amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis 
or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

1.  Accounting policies 
(continued)

1.13  Creditors

Short‑term creditors are measured at 
the transaction price. Other financial 
liabilities, including bank loans, are 
measured initially at fair value, net of 
transaction costs and, subsequently 
at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method.

1.14  Government grants

In line with changes required under 
FRS 102 the previous treatment of 
amounts advanced by local authorities 
and the Department of Housing, Local 
Government and Heritage, under the 
Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme 
(CLSS) and the Capital Assistance 
Scheme (CAS) as loan amounts have 
been changed, with these amounts 
now being classified as government 
grants. As a result, where housing 
developments have been financed 
wholly or partly by such grants the value 
of the related grant for the development 
is shown net of amortisation. Grants 
relating to assets are recognised in 
income on a systematic basis over the 
weighted average useful life for the 
housing assets of 50 years.

Grants are accounted under the accruals 
model, as permitted by FRS 102. Grants 
relating to expenditure on tangible 
fixed assets are credited to the Income 
statement at the same rate as the 
depreciation on the assets to which the 
grant relates.

Grants of a revenue nature 
are recognised in the Income 
statement in the same period as the 
related expenditure.

1.15  Finance costs

Finance costs are charged to the 
Statement of comprehensive income 
over the term of the debt using the 
effective interest method, so that the 
amount charged is at a constant rate 
on the carrying amount. Issue costs 
are initially recognised as a reduction 
in the proceeds of the associated 
capital instrument.

1.16  Pensions

Defined contribution pension plan

The Company operates a defined 
contribution plan for its employees. A 
defined contribution plan is a pension 
plan under which the Company pays 
fixed contributions to a separate entity. 
Once the contributions have been 
paid the Company has no further 
payment obligations.

The contributions are recognised 
as an expense in the Statement of 
comprehensive income when they fall 
due. Amounts not paid are shown in 
accruals as a liability in the Statement of 
financial position. The assets of the plan 
are held separately from the Company 
in independently administered funds.

1.17  Holiday pay accrual

A liability is recognised to the extent 
of any unused holiday pay entitlement 
which is accrued at the Statement of 
financial position date and carried 
forward to future periods. This is 
measured at the undiscounted salary 
cost of the future holiday entitlement 
so accrued at the Statement of financial 
position date.

1.18  Interest income

Interest income is recognised in the 
Statement of comprehensive income, 
using the effective interest method.

1.19  Designated reserve

The Company holds a designated 
reserve for the long‑term maintenance 
of its properties. Funds transferred into 
this reserve each year are based on an 
assessment of the long‑term amounts 
required, as reflected in the annual stock 
condition survey.

Funds historically transferred out 
of reserves each year are based on 
actual spend on an agreed planned 
maintenance programme, which reflects 
the needs of our residents and the 
adequate maintenance of housing stock.

1.20  Borrowing Costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in 
the Statement of comprehensive income 
in the financial year in which they 
are incurred.

1.21  Impairment of assets

At each reporting date fixed assets 
are reviewed to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets 
have suffered an impairment loss. 
If there is an indication of possible 
impairment, the recoverable amount 
of any affected asset is estimated and 
compared with its carrying amount. If 
the estimated recoverable amount is 
lower, the carrying amount is reduced 
to its estimated recoverable amount, 
and an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

2.  Judgments in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make significant judgements and estimates. The items in 
the financial statements where these judgments and estimates have been made include:

Allowances for impairment of trade debtors

The Company estimates the allowance for doubtful trade debtors, based on an assessment of specific accounts where the 
Company has objective evidence of default in payment terms; or evidence that some residents are in significant financial 
difficulty and unable to meet their financial obligations. In these cases, the judgment used was based on the best available facts 
and circumstances, including but not limited to the length of the relationship. At 31 December 2020, provisions for doubtful 
debts amounted to €616,345. This represents 5% of trade receivables at that date (2019: €420,097).

Useful lives of depreciable assets

The annual depreciation charge depends primarily on the estimated lives of each type and component of asset and, in certain 
circumstances, estimates of fair values and residual values. The directors annually review these asset lives and adjust them, as 
necessary, to reflect current thinking on remaining lives, in light of technological change, prospective economic utilisation and 
the physical condition of the assets concerned. Changes in asset lives can have a significant impact on depreciation charges for 
the period. It is not practical to quantify the impact of changes in asset lives on an overall basis, as asset lives are individually 
determined, and there are a significant number of asset lives in use. The impact of any change would vary significantly, 
depending on the individual changes in assets and the classes of assets impacted.

3.  Turnover
An analysis of turnover by class of business is as follows:

2020 2019
€ €

Development fees 562,559 133,214

Other income 515,528 462,783

Management fees 101,483 201,158

Availability income 34,519,913 24,311,578

Rents 23,731,960 21,842,763

59,431,443 46,951,496

All turnover arose in Ireland.

4.  Other operating income

2020 2019
€ €

Amortisation of government grants 12,600,555 12,579,266
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Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

5.  Surplus on maintenance costs

2020 2019
€ €

Planned maintenance expenditure (1,446,455)  (1,271,860)

Management and maintenance subsidies 1,597,565 1,586,722

Surplus 151,110 314,862

6.  Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation
The operating surplus is stated after charging/(crediting):

2020 2019
€ €

Development charged as an expense 727,025 202,051

Auditors’ remuneration 25,830 20,910

Amortisation of government grants (12,600,555) (12,579,266)

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 15,545,891 13,936,602

Rent ‑ operating leases 59,546 40,478

Motor vehicles ‑ operating leases  372,148 357,376

Defined contribution pension cost 588,299 566,352

7.  Taxation
As a result of the Company’s charitable status, no charge to corporation tax arises under the provision of Section 207 of the 
Taxes Consolidation Act 1997.

8.  Employees
Staff costs were as follows:

2020 2019
€ €

Wages and salaries 10,113,987 9,340,324

Social security costs 1,187,638 1,046,506

Cost of defined contribution scheme 588,299 566,352

11,889,924 10,953,182

Capitalised employee costs during the financial year amounted to €Nil (2019 ‑ €NIL).
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Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

8.  Employees (continued)
The average monthly number of employees, during the financial year was as follows:

 2020  2019
 Number  Number

Employees  224  204

Salary banding for all employees earning over €50,000 (including salaries, performance‑related pay and benefits in kind but 
excluding pension contributions paid by the employer and any termination payments):

2020 2019
 Number  Number

€50,000 to €60,000 30 24

€60,000 to €70,000 25 23

€70,000 to €80,000 14 9

€80,000 to €90,000 8 8

€90,000 to €100,000  3 ‑

€100,000 to €110,000 2 3

€110,000 to €120,000 3 3

€130,000 to €140,000  1 ‑

86  70

The Company commissioned Willis Towers Watson to undertake a review of various roles, salaries and benefits in 2020. 
The review is based on comparison with the private, public and non‑profit sectors. The Chief Executive’s salary in 2020 was 
€138,000 (2019: €120,000). The compensation paid to key management personnel in the year totalled €674,978 (2019: 
€661,650). A total of six individuals are considered to be part of the key management personnel group.

9.  Directors’ remuneration
The directors do not receive any remuneration in respect of the company (2019:€NIL).

10.  Interest receivable

2020 2019
€ €

Other interest receivable 258 766

11.  Interest payable and similar expenses

2020 2019
€ €

Interest payable to credit institutions 13,285,020 9,354,908
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Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

12.  Tangible fixed assets 

Land and 
housing

Freehold 
property

Plant and 
machinery

Motor 
vehicles

Office 
equipment

Computer 
equipment

Total

€ € € € € € €

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2020 1,139,801,830 6,596,532 70,719 6,001 566,591 2,783,436 1,149,825,109

Additions 141,741,521 - 12,574 - - 394,012 142,148,107

Disposals (2,240,095) - - - - (533,376) (2,773,471)

At 31 December 2020 1,279,303,256 6,596,532 83,293 6,001 566,591 2,644,072 1,289,199,745

Depreciation

At 1 January 2020 113,876,394 979,410 54,012 5,999 450,657 2,077,367 117,443,839

Charge for the financial 
year on owned assets 14,645,488 136,781 19,511 (80) 39,456 704,652 15,545,808

Disposals (1,499,445) - - - - (534,479) (2,033,924)

At 31 December 2020 127,022,437 1,116,191 73,523 5,919 490,113 2,247,540 130,955,723

Net book value

At 31 December 2020 1,152,280,819 5,480,341 9,770 82 76,478 396,532 1,158,244,022

At 31 December 2019 1,025,925,436 5,617,122 16,707 2 115,934 706,069 1,032,381,270

The net book value of land and buildings may be further analysed as follows:

2020 2019
€ €

Land and housing 1,152,280,819 1,025,925,436

Freehold property 5,480,341 5,617,122

1,157,761,160 1,031,542,558

13.  Stocks

2020 2019
€ €

Finished goods and goods for resale 171,374 169,149

An impairment loss of €NIL (2019:€NIL) was recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income.

72 

C
LÚ

ID
 H

O
U

SI
N

G
   



Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

14.  Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year

2020 2019
€ €

Trade debtors 5,457,236 7,653,408

Prepayments 1,206,247 912,559

Accrued income 2,944,725 2,441,144

9,608,208 11,007,111

Included within debtor balances are provisions in respect of bad debts for €616,345 (2019: €420,097).

15.  Cash and cash equivalents

2020 2019
€ €

Cash at bank and in hand 30,200,231 19,285,926

16.  Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2020 2019
€ €

Loans owed to credit institutions 13,801,477 10,743,365

Trade creditors 1,526,823 1,514,075

Taxation and social insurance 2,197,193 2,195,813

Accruals 11,705,879 9,965,550

Deferred income 6,057,022 4,234,460

35,288,394 28,653,263

2020 2019
€ €

Other taxation and social insurance

PAYE/PRSI control 330,919 265,354

VAT control 1,840,540 1,920,970

RCT Control 25,734 9,489

2,197,193 2,195,813
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Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

16.  Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year (continued)
Secured loans

Included within loans owned to credit institutions are amounts owing to the HFA and CALF of €13,394,790 (2019: €10,352,768). 
Housing loans provided by the HFA are secured by fixed charges on specific housing properties. The loans are subject to 
interest rates ranging between 1.75% and 4.85% (2019: 1.75% and 4.85%). The loans are due for repayment in monthly 
instalments over a 30‑year period.

Also included within loans owed to credit institutions are loan facilities owing to Ulster Bank of €406,687 (2019: €390,597) for 
the purchase and fit out of Northbank House. Interest rates of 3.75% and 3.5% are charged on these facilities respectively. 
Ulster Bank holds a freehold first legal charge on Northbank House, 159‑161 Sherriff Street, Dublin 1 as security over the loans. 
Further details of all charges on the assets of the company are registered with the Companies Registration Office and are 
available at www.cro.ie.

Trade and other creditors are payable at various dates over the coming months in accordance with the suppliers’ usual and 
customary credit terms.

Other taxes include social insurance, repayable at various dates over the coming months, in accordance with the applicable 
statutory provisions.

17.  Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

2020 2019
€ €

Loans owed to credit institutions 628,231,814 505,100,832

Government grants received 424,160,980 431,005,868

1,052,392,794 936,106,700

Secured loans

Included within loans owned to credit institutions are amounts owing to the HFA and CALF of €626,291,636 (2019: 
€502,761,618). Housing loans provided by the HFA are secured by fixed charges on specific housing properties. The loans 
are subject to interest rates ranging between 1.75% and 4.85% (2019: 1.75% and 4.85%). The loans are due for repayment in 
monthly instalments over a 30‑year period.

Also included within loans owed to credit institutions are loan facilities owing to Ulster Bank of €1,940,178 (2019: €2,339,214) 
for the purchase and fit out of Northbank House. Interest rates of 3.75% and 3.5% are charged on these facilities respectively. 
Ulster Bank holds a freehold first legal charge on Northbank House, 159‑161 Sherriff Street, Dublin 1 as security over the loans. 
Further details of all charges on the assets of the company are registered with the Companies Registration Office and are 
available at www.cro.ie.

Government Grants

Government grants represents grants made to the Company from CLSS and CAS schemes. No capital and interest repayments 
are required to be made on these grants, provided that the Company continues to comply with certain specific requirements 
of the local authorities with regard to the properties for which housing has been provided. These grants are secured by specific 
charges on the Company’s land and housing properties. The amount of €424,160,980 (2019: €431,005,868) represents grants 
to be released to income in future years in accordance with the accounting policy on government grants.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

18.  Loans and debt analysis
Analysis of the maturity of loans is given below:

2020 2019
€ €

Amounts falling due within one year

Other loans 13,801,477 10,743,365

Amounts falling due in one to two years

Other loans 14,178,047 21,784,265

Amounts falling due in two to five years

Other loans 44,684,574 34,992,223

Amounts falling due after more than five years

Other loans 569,369,193 448,324,344

642,033,291 515,844,197

The following is an analysis of the anticipated contractual cash flows including interest payable on HFA and CALF loans on an 
undiscounted basis. Interest is calculated on drawn debt held as at 31 December 2020. The interest on debt is calculated by 
reference to the underlying loan agreement and the rate applicable at the balance sheet date.

Debt Interest on debt Total
 €  €  €

For the financial year ended 31 December 
2020

Due in less than one year 13,801,477 12,666,578 26,468,055

Due between one and two years 14,178,047 12,290,010 26,468,057

Due between two and three years 14,565,189 11,902,868 26,468,057

Due between three and five years 30,119,385 22,607,962 52,727,347

Due in five or more years 569,369,193 242,263,824 811,633,017

642,033,291 301,731,242 943,764,533

Debt Interest on debt Total
 €  €

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Due in less than one year 10,743,365 10,313,749 21,057,114

Due between one and two years 11,040,899 10,016,215 21,057,114

Due between two and three years 11,346,923 9,710,191 21,057,114

Due between three and five years 23,645,300 18,468,928 42,114,228

Due in five or more years 459,067,710 198,292,878 657,360,588

515,844,197 246,801,961 762,646,158
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Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

19.  Reserves
Designated reserve

The designated reserve is held for the long‑term maintenance of the Company’s properties and is considered by management 
to be sufficient to meet future obligations, as and when they fall due.

Other restricted reserve

The other reserve represents donations of land to the Company for the purpose of social housing needs. These lands were 
utilised in the construction of social housing in Galway and Cork.

Deferred amortisation reserve

The deferred amortisation reserve represents the credit arising from the FRS 102 adjustment on grant funded properties, offset 
by the depreciation on property assets. This reserve will reverse over time, with the exception of permanent timing differences. 
In 2020 it was €29.6 million (2019: €27.6 million). The reserve is as a result of the adoption of FRS102 accounting compliant 
policies. Historically, the company accounting policy did not amortise CLSS or CAS funding or property assets.

Income and expenditure account

This includes all current and prior period retained surpluses and deficits.

20.  Company status
The Company is limited by guarantee and consequently does not have share capital. Each of the members is liable to 
contribute an amount not exceeding €1 towards the assets of the Company in the event of liquidation.

21.  Capital commitments
At 31 December 2020 the Company had capital commitments as follows:

2020 2019
€ €

Contracted for but not provided for in these financial statements 106,207,843 44,472,488

Committed to but not contracted or provided for in these financial statements 74,491,589 21,420,382

180,699,432 65,892,870

Capital commitments relates to the purchase and development of land and housing properties and other fixed assets.

22.  Pension commitments
The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately 
to the assets of the Company in an independently administered fund. Contributions to the scheme are charged to the Income 
and Expenditure Account, as they become payable. The charge for the period is shown in Note 8 to the financial statements. At 
the end of the period there were unpaid contributions amounting to €Nil (2019: €Nil).
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Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (continued)

23.  Commitments under operating lease
At 31 December 2020 the Company had future minimum lease payments under non‑cancellable operating leases as follows:

2020 2019
€ €

Not later than one year 1,990,493 1,939,844

Later than one year and not later than five years 7,961,972 7,759,376

Later than five years 20,017,008 21,329,010

Total 29,969,473 31,028,230

24.  Comparative information
Comparative information has been reclassified, where necessary, to conform to current year presentation.

25.  Events since the year end
There have been no significant events affecting the association since the year end.

26.  Contingent liabilities
A number of claims have been made against the Company in respect of personal injury and property‑related matters, arising 
from the ordinary course of business. The Company, has taken appropriate legal advice and is defending any claims made 
against it. A provision of €59,000 has been made for legal and professional fees incurred, to date, in respect of these claims 
(2019: €130,000). Details of contingent liabilities in respect of any claims made have not been included in the financial 
statements, since such a disclosure could be deemed prejudicial to the outcome of these legal cases.

27. Controlling party
The Company is owned by its members and managed by the board of directors, who are also the Company members.

28.  Related party transactions
Roxborough Mews Management Company DAC is a related party of Clúid, as Clúid owns 67% of the shares of the company. 
As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 Clúid was owed €1,825 by Roxborough Mews Management Company DAC. 
Under Section 301 of the Companies Act, the company is exempt from the preparation of consolidated financial accounts, as 
the subsidiary is immaterial.

29.  Approval of financial statements
The board of directors approved these financial statements for issue on 8th April 2021.
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